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Explanatory Note

On December 1, 2010, Novatel Wireless, Inc. (the “Company”) filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission a Current Report on Form 8-K, dated
November 30, 2010 (the “Form 8-K”), in connection with the Company’s acquisition (the “Merger”) of Enfora, Inc. (“Enfora”). This Current Report on Form 8-
K/A amends Item 9.01 of the Form 8-K to present certain financial statements of Enfora, Inc. and certain unaudited pro forma financial information of the
Company in connection with the Merger.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

(a) Financial Statements of Businesses Acquired

The audited historical financial statements of Enfora as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 and for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007 and
the unaudited historical financial statements of Enfora as of September 30, 2010 and for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 are filed as Exhibit
99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

(b) Pro Forma Financial Information

The unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2009 and as of and for the nine months ended
September 30, 2010, which have been prepared to give effect to the Merger and other related transactions, are filed as Exhibit 99.2 to this Current Report on Form
8-K and are incorporated herein by reference. The pro forma financial statements are presented for informational purposes only and do not purport to represent
what the Company’s results of operations or financial position would have been had the transactions reflected occurred on the dates indicated or to project the
Company’s financial position as of any future date or the Company’s results of operations for any future period.

(d) Exhibits

Exhibit No. Description

2.1 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 5, 2010, by and between Novatel Wireless, Inc., England Acquisition Corp. and
Enfora, Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, filed on November 10, 2010)

23.1 Consent of Grant Thornton LLP

99.1 Historical financial statements of Enfora, Inc.

99.2 Unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial information of Novatel Wireless, Inc.

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned
hereunto duly authorized.

NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

By: /S/" KENNETH LEDDON

Kenneth Leddon
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 14, 2011
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Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of November 5, 2010, by and between Novatel Wireless, Inc., England Acquisition Corp. and
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Exhibit 23.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
We have issued our reports dated May 19, 2010 and June 22, 2009, with respect to the Enfora, Inc. consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2009 and
2008 and for the years ended December 31, 2009, 2008 and 2007, respectively, and included in Form 8-K/A of Novatel Wireless, Inc. dated February 14, 2011.

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference of said reports in the Registration Statements of Novatel Wireless, Inc. on Form S-3 (File No. 333-162020,
effective October 5, 2009) and on Forms S-8 (File No. 333-163032, effective November 10, 2009, File No. 333-163033, effective November 10, 2009, File No.
333-145482, effective August 15, 2007, and File No. 333-53692, effective January 12, 2001).

/s GRANT THORNTON LLP

Dallas, TX
February 14, 2011



Exhibit 99.1

Consolidated Financial Statements and Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants
Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

December 31, 2009 and 2008



Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors
Enfora, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Enfora, Inc. and subsidiaries (a Delaware corporation) as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America as established by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Enfora, Inc. and subsidiaries
as of December 31, 2009 and 2008, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

/s GRANT THORNTON LLP

Dallas, Texas
May 19, 2010



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value per share)

December 31,
2009 2008
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,161 $ 3,717
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $577 in 2009 and $527 in 2008 8,608 16,979
Inventories 7,022 10,713
Note receivable 1,500 —
Prepaid expenses 680 628
Total current assets 21,971 32,037
Property and equipment, net 2,000 2,986
Deposits and other prepayments 187 6
Total assets $ 24,158 $ 35,029
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Line of credit $ 5,189 $ 10,996
Notes payable - current portion 828 4,131
Accounts payable 3,389 7,849
Accrued liabilities 5,139 7,015
Total current liabilities 14,545 29,991
Long-term liabilities
Notes payable - noncurrent portion 9,342 9,525
Warrant liability 416 —
Total long-term liabilities 9,758 9,525
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity
Redeemable convertible preferred stock - Series A, $0.001 par value, 12,500 and 7,000 shares authorized 9,266 and 6,380 issued
and outstanding (liquidation value $35,261 and $24,130 including cumulative undeclared dividends) at December 31, 2009
and 2008, respectively 26,613 18,020
Common stock $0.001 par value, 27,500 and 19,000 shares authorized, 10,855 and 10,556 issued and outstanding at
December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively 11 11
Additional paid-in capital 11,343 4,574
Accumulated deficit (38,116) (27,092)
Cumulative translation adjustment 4 —
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (145) (4,487)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 24,158  $ 35,029

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2009 2008
Revenues $ 52,514 $95,897
Cost of goods sold 35,340 70,886
Gross profit 17,174 25,011
Operating expenses
Research and development 7,206 12,319
Sales and marketing 6,061 10,047
General and administrative 5,911 9,427
Depreciation and amortization 1,160 980
Total operating expenses 20,338 32,773
Loss from operations (3,164) (7,762)
Other income (expense)
Interest expense - cash (2,256) (1,855)
Interest expense - non-cash (5,726) (221)
Other income, net 135 74
Total other expense (7,847) (2,002)
Loss before income taxes (11,011) (9,764)
Provision for income taxes (13) (13)
Net loss $(11,024)  $(9,777)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands)

Years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008

Redeemable Total
convertible Additional Cumulative stockholders’
preferred stock Common stock paid-in Accumulated translation equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount capital deficit adjustment (deficit)
Balance at January 1, 2008 6,380 $18,020 10,485 $ 10 $ 1,746 $ (17,315) $ — $ 2,461
Issuance of warrants — — — — 674 — — 674
Stock-based compensation — — — — 2,053 — — 2,053
Issuance of common stock — — 71 1 101 — — 102
Net loss — — — — — (9,777) — (9,777)
Balance at December 31, 2008 6,380 18,020 10,556 11 4,574 (27,092) — (4,487)
Issuance of warrants — — — — 1,714 — — 1,714
Stock-based compensation — — — — 1,376 — — 1,376
Issuance of common stock — — 299 — 1 — — 1
Conversion of subordinated notes 2,729 8,125 — — — — — 8,125
Beneficial conversion feature — — — — 3,678 — — 3,678
Issuance of preferred stock 157 468 — — — — — 468
Net loss — — — — — (11,024) — (11,024)
Cumulative translation adjustment — — — — — — 4 4
Balance at December 31, 2009 9,266  $26,613 10,855 $ 11  $11,343 $ (38,116) $ 4 $ (145)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement.

5



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(In thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

Operating activities
Net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided (used) by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Provision for doubtful accounts
Interest expense non-cash and other warrant expense
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Receivables
Inventory
Notes receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities
Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment
Net cash used by investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from line of credit
Payments on line of credit
Proceeds from notes payable
Repayment of notes payable
Proceeds from subordinated convertible debt
Proceeds from sale of preferred stock
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid during the period for
Interest
Income taxes
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities:
Warrants issued for debt and guarantee
Conversion of subordinated debt for preferred stock

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2009 2008
$(11,024)  $ (9,777)
1,160 980
1,376 2,053
326 245
5,726 249
8,045 (5,593)
3,691 6,938
(1,500) —
133 350
(4,460) (4,474)
(1,872) 1,130
1,601 (7,899)
(175) (1,742)
(175) (1,742)
54,551 71,802
(60,358) (68,006)
— 8,000
(3,137) (3,269)
7,500 —
468 —
1 102
(975) 8,629
(7) —
444 (1,012)
3,717 4,729
$ 4,161 $ 3,717
$ 2,256 $ 2,033
13 6
$ 1,714 $ 674
$ 8,125 J—



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries (the “Company” or “Enfora”) is a provider of wireless networking solutions that enable enterprises to access, analyze and
leverage information from their geographically dispersed assets. Our solutions, consisting of wireless modules, integrated products, and enterprise
software, are based on our distributed-intelligence architecture that provides a valuable link between an enterprise and its remote assets. Enterprises deploy
our solutions for location-based, monitoring and control, and asset intelligence applications, including fleet management, automated meter reading, security
and surveillance and inventory management.

We were incorporated in Delaware in December 1998 as Nextcell Inc. In 2001, we changed our name to Enfora, Inc., and in 2003, we converted to a
limited partnership and became Enfora, L.P. On September 21, 2006, we converted from a partnership to a Delaware corporation in connection with an
investment by two outside venture capital firms.

Basis of Presentation

Our consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Enfora Inc. and its wholly owned foreign subsidiaries, Enfora Asia Pacific PTE
Ltd., Enfora HK Limited and Enfora Comércio de Electronicds Ltda. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

In conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, we are required to make accounting estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and in the accompanying notes. The accounting estimates that require our most significant,
difficult and subjective judgments include:

. the valuation of inventory;

. the valuation of share-based compensation;

. the recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities;

. the collectability of accounts receivable;

. the valuation of contingent liabilities, including our product warranty reserve; and
. the estimate of potential royalty and license fees.

We believe the estimates, judgments, and assumptions upon which we rely are appropriate and correct, based upon information available to us at the time
they are made. The actual results we experience may differ materially from our estimates. If there are material differences between these estimates,
judgments, or assumptions and actual facts our consolidated financial statements will be affected.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Financial Instruments

Financial instruments included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other assets,
accounts payable, and notes payable. Unless otherwise disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the carrying value of financial
instruments approximates fair value due to the short period of time to maturity. The carrying value of debt approximates fair value as terms approximate
market terms currently available for similar debt instruments. Equity options and warrants are priced using option pricing models and third party
valuations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents
consist of bank deposits and money market funds. The Company places its cash and temporary cash investments with credit quality institutions. At times,
such amounts may be in excess of the FDIC insurance limit.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable is recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts.

We evaluate the collectability of our accounts receivable based on several factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer’s inability to
meet its financial obligations to us, we record a specific allowance for doubtful accounts against amounts due to us and reduce the net recorded receivable
to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected. We also consider recognizing allowances for doubtful accounts based on the length of time the
receivables are outstanding compared to contractual terms, industry and geographic concentrations, the current business environment, and our historical
experience. Accounts are written off after final collection efforts are exhausted. If the financial condition of our customers deteriorates or if economic
conditions worsen, increases in the allowance may be required in the future. We cannot predict future changes in the financial stability of our customers;
therefore, revisions to specific allowances may be required in the future.

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows (in thousands):

_2009_ 2008
Beginning balance $ 527 $290
Provision for doubtful accounts 326 245
Write-offs _(276) _®
Ending balance $ 577 $527

We carry insurance on some of our trade customer accounts that provides limited coverage in the event of nonpayment.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Inventory Valuation

Our inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or estimated net realizable value. Amounts are typically removed from inventory using the first-in,
first-out method. Adjustments to reduce our inventories to estimated realizable value, including write downs for excess and obsolete inventories, are
determined by comparing inventory levels of individual materials and parts to current demand forecasts and historical usage for those items. In addition, we
review other individual facts and circumstances to determine necessary adjustments to reduce our inventories to estimated realizable value. Actual amounts
realized upon the sale of inventories may differ from estimates used to determine inventory valuations due to changes in customer demand, technology, and
other factors.

Property and Equipment

Our property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. We calculate depreciation using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which generally range from three to seven years. We amortize leasehold improvements using the straight-line
method over the lesser of their estimated useful lives or remaining lease terms. Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31,
2009 and 2008 was $1,160,312 and $979,745, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenue primarily from sales of cellular-based modules and integrated products and, to a lesser extent, from product license fees, design
services, software licensing agreements and post contract support (PCS).

Revenues from sales of modules and integrated products are recognized when all of the following conditions are met: a) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists; b) the price is fixed or determinable; c) the service is performed (delivery); and d) collectability of the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured. Depending on the nature of the customer and the related sale terms, revenue is either recognized upon shipment or upon customer
payment. Inventories shipped for which the Company has not yet recognized revenue was $193,047 and $548,127 at December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively and such amounts are included in finished goods inventories.

Revenue from the sales of modules and integrated platforms accounted for approximately 93% and 95% of total revenues for 2009 and 2008, respectively.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Certain customers use our intellectual property, as a component of their own product. We receive revenue from the licensing of the right to manufacture
certain products. Our royalties from these licenses scale from higher rates at product launch to lower rates as total production milestones are met. These
customers self report their sales to Enfora, after which the Company invoices the customer. Royalty revenue is recognized when earned according to the
terms of the agreements and when realization of collectability is considered reasonably assured. Where royalties are based upon licensee sales, revenue is
recognized upon analysis of sales results of licensees.

We provide engineering design and test services for our customers to enhance their usage of our products. Design service revenue is recognized as services
are performed over the term of the design services contract.

In October 2009, the FASB issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2009-13. This standard modifies the revenue recognition guidance for
arrangements that involve the delivery of multiple elements, such as product, software, services and support, to a customer at different times as part of a
single revenue generating transaction. The standard provides principles and application guidance to determine whether multiple deliverables exist, how the
individual deliverables should be separated and how to allocate the revenue in the arrangement among those separate deliverables. Specifically, it modifies
the separation criteria by eliminating the criterion that requires objective and reliable evidence of fair value for the undelivered item(s), and eliminates the
use of the residual method of allocation and instead requires that arrangement consideration be allocated, at the inception of the arrangement, to all
deliverables based on their relative selling price.

The FASB also issued ASU 2009-14, to amend the scope of arrangements under existing software revenue recognition authoritative literature to exclude
tangible products containing software components and non-software components that function together to deliver a product’s essential functionality.

In most cases, embedded software in our hardware products is incidental to the product value. Beginning in 2009 we introduced a new product offering
where software is essential to the functionality of the hardware and includes post contract support. These types of arrangements represent a multiple
deliverable revenue arrangement.

ASU 2009-13 and ASU 2009-14 are effective prospectively for revenue arrangements entered into in fiscal years beginning on or after June 15, 2010, with
early application and retrospective application permitted. We elected early adoption effective January 1, 2009. Retrospective application was not applicable
since the Company’s related revenue activity began in 2009.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Under ASU 2009-13, in multiple element arrangements, the total consideration received from customers must be allocated to the elements based on a
relative selling price. The new accounting guidance establishes a hierarchy to determine the selling price to be used for allocating revenue to deliverables as
follows: (i) vendor-specific objective evidence of fair value (“VSOE”), (ii) third-party evidence of selling price (“TPE”), and (iii) best estimate of the
selling price (“ESP”). Because the Company has neither VSOE nor TPE, revenue has been based on the Company’s ESP. Amounts allocated to the
delivered hardware and the related essential software are recognized at the time of the sale provided all other revenue recognition criteria have been met.
Amounts allocated to PCS are recognized on a straight-line basis over the PCS period, usually twelve months. In 2009, revenue from multiple element
arrangements was not significant.

The Company’s process for determining its ESP for deliverables without VSOE or TPE considers multiple factors that may vary depending upon the
unique facts and circumstances related to each deliverable. Our prices are determined based upon cost to produce our products, expected order quantities
and acceptance in the marketplace. In addition, when developing ESPs for products we may consider other factors as appropriate including the pricing of
competitive alternatives if they exist, and product-specific business objectives.

The Company accounts for multiple element arrangements that consist only of software and PCS with industry specific accounting guidance for software
and software-related transactions. For such transactions, revenue on arrangements that include multiple elements is allocated to each element based on
vendor specific evidence of fair value. If the Company cannot objectively determine the fair value of any undelivered element included in such multiple-
element arrangements, the Company defers revenue until all elements are delivered and services have been performed, or until fair value can objectively be
determined for any remaining undelivered elements. Where PCS is the only undelivered element the entire arrangement fee is recognized ratably over the
term of the PCS arrangement. In 2009, revenue from multiple element arrangements consisting only of software and PCS was not significant.

Taxes Collected

We present revenue net of sales taxes and any similar assessments.

Shipping and Handling

Shipping and handling costs related to product shipments to customers are included in cost of goods sold.

Advertising

We expense the costs of advertising as it is incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 were $342,876 and $672,411
respectively.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Product Warranty

We generally provide a minimum of a one-year warranty on all products sold in the United States. Warranties provided in most other countries carry a two-
year warranty if mandated by the specific country where the sales occur. Warranties may exceed two years based on agreed-upon contract terms. We record
specific warranty provisions for any identified individual product issues.

Changes in the warranty accrual are as follows (in thousands):

2009 2008
Beginning balance $1,086 $ 145
Warranty provisions 99 1,107
Warranty claims (745) (166)
Ending balance $ 440 $1,086

Royalty Expense

We have license agreements that commit us to pay royalties generally based on a percentage of the sales price of the products using certain technologies.
We recognize royalty obligations in accordance with terms of the respective royalty agreements. We have also accrued for royalty expenses in cases where
we do not have agreements, by using its current best estimate of its obligation (See Note 8). These estimates are based on various market data and other
relevant information. When we enter into such agreements, or when additional information becomes available, estimates will be revised accordingly.
Royalty expenses for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 were $1,439,334 and $2,092,196, respectively, which are included in costs of goods
sold.

Research and Development

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses, lab supplies, training, and prototype materials. We expense all of
our research and development costs in the period incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

We have stock-based employee compensation plans, which are more fully described in Note 6. We account for all awards granted under those plans at fair
value.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Income Taxes

Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes - ASC Topic 740, previously known as FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income
Taxes — An Interpretation of FASB Statement No. 109” (“FIN 48”), was issued in June 2006 by the Financial Accounting Standards Board. This
Interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s financial statements. ASC Topic 740 requires companies
to determine that it is “more likely than not” that a tax position will be sustained upon examination by the appropriate taxing authorities before any part of
the benefit can be recorded in the financial statements. ASC Topic 740 also provides guidance on the derecognition of tax benefits, measurement and
classification of income tax uncertainties, along with any related interest and penalties. ASC Topic 740 also requires significant additional disclosures
regarding uncertain tax positions. ASC Topic 740 is effective for years beginning after December 15, 2006 for public companies. The Company is a
nonpublic company and as such adopted ASC Topic 740 in the first quarter of 2009 on a prospective basis in compliance with the deferral granted to
nonpublic companies to years beginning after December 15, 2008. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. No liabilities or assets have been recognized as a result of the implementation of ASC Topic 740. Accordingly, the
Company has not recognized any penalty, interest or tax impact related to uncertain tax positions. If any penalties and interest are recognized in the future,
they will be recorded in income tax expense. The Company’s federal income tax returns for the year ended December 31, 2006 and subsequent years
remain subject to examination. The Company’s Texas franchise and margin tax returns remain subject to examination for the 2007 report year and
subsequent report years.

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of transactions and events. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect
for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. If necessary, deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance to an amount that is
determined to be more likely than not recoverable. We must make significant estimates and assumptions about future taxable income and future tax
consequences when determining the amount of the valuation allowance. Our deferred tax assets were fully reserved at December 31, 2009 and 2008.

The Company is subject to the margin tax imposed by the State of Texas. The margin tax in general is based on gross revenue generated during the year
ended December 31, 2009 less a limited number of eligible deductions. The Company has accrued approximately $5,000 for the margin tax on the basis
that it will be taxed at a rate of 1.0%. The Company expects to pay the margin tax in May 2010. In accordance with accounting literature, the margin tax is
treated as an income tax for financial reporting purposes.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Risk Concentration

Financial instruments that potentially expose us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of accounts receivable. At December 31, 2009 and 2008
approximately 82% and 83%, respectively of our net accounts receivable were due from ten customers. In 2009, the three largest customers represented
17%, 13% and 10% of our revenues and the related accounts receivable from the same customers was approximately, 28%, 23% and 4%. In 2008, the three
largest customers represented 24%, 12% and 11% of our revenues, and the related accounts receivable from the same customers was approximately 28%,
12% and 12%, respectively. We have customers in Asia, Africa, Europe, South America and North America.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, approximately 84% and 82%, respectively of our net accounts receivable were due from customers in the United States.
We periodically evaluate our customers’ financial condition for creditworthiness and generally do not require collateral.

In March 2009, a portion of a customer’s accounts receivable balance outstanding at December 31, 2008, in the amount of $1,500,000 was converted into a
note receivable. The note bears interest at 10%, interest is due monthly and principal is due on April 1, 2010. The note receivable was collected in April
2010.

We depend on third-party contract manufacturers and subcontractors to manufacture all of our products. We do not have long-term supply agreements with
our manufacturers. We obtain products on a purchase order basis. The inability of a third-party manufacturer to continue manufacturing our products would
have a material adverse effect on our operations.

We provide component parts to two contract manufacturers in the form of raw materials that are used in the manufacturing process of our products.
Finished goods are then shipped directly from contract manufacturers to our customers or to our own facility. On occasion, our contract manufacturers are
also our customers. Amounts due from our contract manufacturers as customers for the purchase of raw materials are included in accounts receivable. At
December 31, 2009 and 2008, these amounts represented 4% and 8%, respectively, of the accounts receivable balance. No revenue is recognized on raw
material purchases by contract manufacturers for use in the manufacturing process of our products.

Foreign Currency Translation

Non-U.S. subsidiaries that operate in local currencies are translated to U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, with the resulting
translation adjustments reported as part of Cumulative translation adjustment within the shareholders’ equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Income and expense accounts are translated at average exchange rates during the year.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Accounting Codification

In June 2009, the FASB Accounting Standards Codification™ (Codification) became the single source of authoritative U.S. GAAP. The Codification did
not create any new GAAP standards, but incorporated existing accounting and reporting standards into a new topical structure with a new referencing
system to identify authoritative accounting standards, replacing the prior references to Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS), Emerging
Issues Task Force (EITF), FASB Staff Position (FSP), etc. Authoritative standards included in the Codification are designated by their ASC topical
reference, and new standards issued after July 1, 2009, are designated as Accounting Standards Updates (ASUs), with a year and assigned sequence
number. References to prior standards have been updated to reflect the new system.

NOTE 2 - INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following (table in thousands):

December 31,
2009 2008
Raw materials $ 632 $ 1,318
Work in process — 41
Finished goods 6,390 9,354
Total inventory $7,022 $10,713

Inventory at customer sites for which we have not yet recognized revenue was $193,047 and $548,127 at December 31, 2009 and 2008, respectively and is
included in finished goods.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2009 and 2008

NOTE 3 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following (table in thousands):

E:Lilfvnfcteed December 31,
life 2009 2008
Equipment 3to5 $ 2,091 $ 2,341
Software 3t05 2,193 2,190
Computer hardware 3to5 853 1,377
Furniture and fixtures 5to7 276 370
Leasehold improvements 7 111 111
Total property and equipment 5,524 6,389
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (3,524) (3,403)
Net property and equipment $ 2,000 $ 2,986
In 2009 and 2008 we retired $1,039,230 and $0, respectively, of fully depreciated assets.
NOTE 4 - DEBT
Our outstanding debt obligations are as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2009 2008

Silicon Valley Bank Line of Credit $ 5,189 $ 10,996

Silicon Valley Bank Term Notes — 2,669

Escalate Capital Note 11,532 12,000

Total debt 16,721 25,665

Less:

Unamortized debt discount (1,362) (1,013)

Current maturities of long-term debt (6,017) (15,127)

Long-term debt $ 9,342 $ 9,525
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 4 - DEBT - Continued

Silicon Valley Bank (SVB)_Line of Credit

We have a revolving line of credit agreement with Silicon Valley Bank. The line of credit is collateralized by our inventory, accounts receivable, and
equipment. Available borrowings under the line are determined in accordance with a borrowing base calculation of eligible receivables and certain
inventory. The line has financial and other covenants.

At December 31, 2008, the interest rate was 7.0%, and there was approximately $42,000 available for borrowing under the line of credit.

During 2009 the credit agreement was amended. The amendments waived any existing defaults and revised certain terms and conditions of the agreement.
The interest rate was revised to the greater of 2.5% above prime or 8%. The total amount available for borrowing under the line was revised to
$13,500,000, and covenants including the EBITDA calculation, the liquidity coverage ratio and the annual capital expenditure limitation were changed.
Additionally, the maturity date was extended from April 30, 2009 to January 31, 2010. At December 31, 2009 the interest rate was 8% and there was
approximately $2,383,000 available for borrowing under the line of credit.

As of December 31, 2009, we were not in compliance with the covenants. In the first four months of 2010 we amended the agreement and received waivers
of existing defaults. The amendments revised certain terms and conditions of the agreement. The interest rate was revised to the greater of 2.5% above
prime or 7%. The total amount available for borrowing under the line was revised to $12,000,000, the EBITDA calculation was changed to a free cash flow
calculation and the maturity was extended to January 31, 2011.

The bank requires our Chief Executive Officer to fund up to $1,500,000, if cash balances decrease to certain levels as defined, if there is an event of default
under the revolving line of credit agreement or under certain circumstances as defined, to fund Escalate principal payments or certain other expenditures.
(See Note 9).

Silicon Valley Bank Term Notes

At December 31, 2008, we had two Term Notes with principal amounts totaling $2,669,000. The interest rates were 8.75% and principal and interest
payments were made in equal installments until maturity in June 2009 and December 2009. The notes were collateralized by accounts receivable,
inventory, equipment and general assets of the Company. In March 2009, we paid the outstanding balances due Silicon Valley Bank under the term notes.

Escalate Capital Note

We have a note payable to Escalate Capital. The note is collateralized by all personal property of the Company, is subject to financial and other covenants,
and is subordinated to the Silicon Valley Bank revolving line of credit.
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December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 4 - DEBT - Continued

Pursuant to the agreement, upon funding of the note we issued warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock. The warrants vest upon
issuance. Exercise prices of the warrants are based on the value of the Company’s shares at the time of vesting. The warrants carry a term of seven years.

The values assigned to both the note and the warrants were allocated based on their relative fair values. The relative fair value of the warrants at the time of
issuance, which is determined using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, was recorded as additional paid-in capital and reduced the carrying value of
the note. The discount on the note is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the note.

At December 31, 2008, the total borrowings under the Escalate note were $12,000,000 and the total unamortized discount was approximately $1,013,000.
A total of 323,312 warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock at $5.90 are held by Escalate at December 31, 2008. Through August 31, 2008, the
note bears interest at 11% and 12.5% thereafter. Interest payments are due monthly. Principal balance repayments are scheduled to occur over 30 months
commencing on July 31, 2009 and maturing December 31, 2011.

During 2009, the Escalate note agreement was amended. The amendments waived any existing defaults and revised certain terms and conditions of the
agreement. The interest rate was revised from 12.5% to 13.5%. Covenants, including the EBITDA calculation and the annual capital expenditure limitation
were changed. Additionally, the amendment allowed for the deferral of seventy-four percent of principal payments due from the period July 31, 2009
through March 31, 2010, so long as no event of default occurs during the deferral period, with the deferred principal payments due at maturity. The exercise
price on the existing outstanding warrants was reduced from $5.90 per share to $0.01 per share, and a new warrant was issued to purchase 120,000 shares
of the Company’s common stock at $0.01 per share with a put option of $120,000. We accounted for the warrant exercise price change as a modification in
terms and revalued the warrants. Any additional expense will be recognized over the remaining term of the note.

The put option is exercisable by Escalate upon the occurrence of one of the following events: an acquisition; a wind-down, dissolution or liquidation of the
Company; an event of default created by nonpayment of principal or interest, as defined under the terms of the note; or bankruptcy of the Company. Upon
the occurrence of one of these events Escalate may require the Company to purchase the warrant for a note with a principal amount of $120,000. The note
is due upon demand and bears interest at the existing rate on the then current outstanding Escalate note.
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NOTE 4 - DEBT - Continued

The values assigned to both the put option and the warrants were allocated based on their relative fair values. The relative fair value of the warrants at the
time of issuance was determined using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The put option was valued based upon the product of management’s
estimate of the probability that it will be exercised and the present value. In accordance with the authoritative guidance, due to a cash settlement option, the
total value of the warrant and put option at time of issuance was recorded as debt issuance cost and warrant liability. Upon exercise, expiration of the
warrant or put option or at debt maturity the warrant liability will be relieved and the offset will be to additional paid-in capital. The debt issuance cost is
being amortized to interest expense over the term of the note. Additionally, the warrant and put option is marked-to-market at the end of each reporting
period. At December 31, 2009, the mark-to-market adjustment resulted in a gain of approximately $37,000 and is included in interest expense.

At December 31, 2009, the total borrowings under the Escalate note are $11,532,000 and the total unamortized discount is approximately $1,362,000. A
total of 443,312 warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock at $0.01 are held by Escalate at December 31, 2009. Interest payments are due
monthly, and principal balance repayments will occur through December 31, 2011.

At December 31, 2009, we were not in compliance with the covenants. In the first four months of 2010 we amended the agreement and received a waiver
of existing defaults. The amendment revised certain terms and conditions, including changing the EBITDA calculation to a free cash flow calculation.
Additionally, the amendment allows for the deferral of certain principal payments as defined for the period April 30, 2010 through March 31, 2011 so long
as no event of default occurs during the deferral period, with the deferred principal payments due at maturity. Accordingly, with the agreement to defer
principal payments in place we reclassified $2,385,000, to long term debt at December 31, 2009. A new warrant was issued to purchase 300,000 shares of
the Company’s common stock at $0.01 per share with a put option of $300,000. The warrant vests as the Company elects to defer principal payments as
defined in the agreement.

Convertible Subordinated Notes

In January 2009, we entered into Convertible Subordinated Notes with the holders of Series A Preferred Stock and our Chief Executive Officer in an
amount totaling $7,500,000. The notes bear interest at 12%. The outstanding principal amount of the notes and interest, with unpaid interest through
January 15, 2012 is payable in twelve equal monthly payments beginning on January 15, 2012. The Notes may be converted into Series A Preferred Stock
of the Company at a conversion price of $2.9778 per share at the option of the holder if the Notes are outstanding on the one year anniversary of their
issuance or if there is a change in control of the Company. If the Company should issue a new round of equity financing of at least $15 million (including
the proceeds of the notes) the notes shall be automatically converted into shares of capital stock issued in such financing at the same price per share offered
to other investors in such financing. Warrants to purchase 364,080 shares of the Company’s common stock at $4.12 per share were issued to the
Convertible Subordinated Note holders. The warrants are exercisable as of the date of issuance and carry a term of seven years.
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NOTE 4 - DEBT - Continued

The proceeds were allocated to the debt, warrants and conversion feature based on their relative fair values. The fair value of the warrants was determined
using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the fair value of the debt was based upon the present value using a discounted cash flow model, and the fair
value of the conversion feature was determined by taking the aggregate fair value of the preferred stock at issuance (assuming the debt was converted) less
the relative fair value of the debt. The conversion feature was determined to be a beneficial conversion feature since it had intrinsic value to the note
holders. At issuance the warrants were valued at $801,349, and the beneficial conversion feature was valued at approximately $3,678,137 with the offset to
this debt discount, credited to additional paid-in capital. The total debt discount of $4,479,486 will be amortized to interest expense over the term of the
notes, with any unamortized amount recognized upon conversion of the notes.

In September 2009 the Convertible Subordinated Notes holders modified the notes by executing an Amendment and Conversion Agreement to accelerate
the right, and to convert, the outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest into shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock. Immediately
after the execution of these amendments the note holders exercised their conversion right resulting in the issuance of 2,728,521 Series A Preferred Stock
for approximately $8,125,000. The amendment did not result in significant changes in the underlying debt cash flows under the terms of the agreement;
therefore, in accordance with authoritative guidance the modification was not treated as an extinguishment of debt. As a result as required by generally
accepted accounting principles the unamortized debt discount at time of conversion was recognized in earnings as interest expense related to the conversion
of the subordinated notes.

For the year ended December 31, 2009, Interest expense - non-cash was comprised of: (i) amortized debt discount and interest expense for the Convertible
Subordinated notes of $4,479,000 and $625,000 respectively, and (ii) amortization of other debt discount discussed above in the amount of $622,000. For
the year ended December 31, 2008, Interest expense - non-cash was comprised solely of amortization of debt discount in the amount of $221,000.

Debt Maturities

Maturities of our outstanding indebtedness as of December 31, 2009 are as follows (in thousands):

2010 $ 6,698
2011 10,023
2012 —
2013 —
2014 —
Thereafter —
Total debt $16,721
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Letter of Credit

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we have a letter of credit of $338,000 outstanding with Silicon Valley Bank. The letter of credit was issued in 2007 to
guarantee certain future payments to our building landlord, in accordance with our office lease agreement. We have no outstanding borrowings associated
with the letter of credit at December 31, 2009 and 2008.

NOTE 5 - INCOME TAXES

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed by applying the effective U.S. federal and state income tax rate to the gross amounts of temporary
differences and other tax attributes. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future
taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax
liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. At December 31, 2009, future tax benefits from net
operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets are fully reserved.

The Company has available net operating loss carry forwards of approximately $18,877,000 available through years 2028-2029 if not utilized sooner.
The following table summarizes the difference between the actual tax provision and the amounts obtained by applying the statutory tax rates to the income
or loss before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 (in thousands):

Years ended

December 31,
2009 2008

Tax provision (benefit) calculated at statutory rate $(3,852) $(3,437)
Permanent differences 2,100 675
State income tax 3 5
Foreign rate differential (6) (13)

Total (1,755) (2,770)
Increase to valuation allowance 1,768 2,783
Provision for income taxes $ 13 $ 13
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The components of the net deferred federal income tax assets (liabilities) were as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2009 2008
Deferred tax assets
Bad debt allowance $ 202 $ 185
Goodwill 4,159 4,621
Trademarks 52 58
Accruals 205 464
Inventory reserve 1,156 1,119
Royalty reserve 583 —
Nonqualified stock options 245 131
Restricted stock awards 29 —
Warrants — 10
Net operating loss 6,270 4,654
Deferred tax liabilities
Property and equipment (74) (110)
Warrants 3 —
Restricted stock awards = (76)
Net 12,824 11,056
Less valuation allowance (12,824) (11,056)
Net deferred taxes $ — $ —

The Company’s federal income tax returns for the year ended December 31, 2006 and subsequent years remain subject to examination. The Company’s
Texas franchise and margin tax returns remain subject to examination for the 2007 report year and subsequent report years.

NOTE 6 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

As of December 31, 2008, we were authorized to issue 26,000,000 shares of capital stock, of which 7,000,000 and 19,000,000 shares are reserved for
preferred and common stock, respectively.

In January 2009, the Company amended the Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of shares of authorized capital stock to 40,000,000, of
which 12,500,000 and 27,500,000 shares are reserved for preferred and common stock, respectively.

22



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2009 and 2008
NOTE 6 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY - Continued

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

On October 4, 2006, we entered into a securities purchase agreement whereby investors purchased an aggregate of 6,380,550 shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock (Series A preferred) for $18,020,000 in cash, net of expenses of $980,000, for an original issue price of $2.98 per preferred
share.

In January 2009, we entered into Convertible Subordinated Notes with two major shareholders, and our Chief Executive Officer in an amount totaling
$7,500,000. In September 2009 the Convertible Subordinated Notes holders modified the notes by executing an Amendment and Conversion Agreement to
accelerate the right, and to convert, the outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest into shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock. This
resulted in the issuance of 2,728,521 Series A Preferred Stock for approximately $8,125,000. (See Note 4).

In September 2009, we issued 157,163 Series A Preferred Shares to our Chief Executive Officer as he funded $468,000 in Escalate principal payments.
(See Note 4 and Note 9).

In March 2010, we issued 78,582 Series A Preferred Shares to our Chief Executive Officer as he funded $234,000 in Escalate principal payments. (See
Note 4 and Note 9).

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, Series A Preferred shares outstanding were 9,266,234 and 6,380,550, respectively.

Each holder of Series A preferred generally votes with our common stock and is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of common
stock into which the preferred stock could be converted.

Each share of the Series A preferred is convertible, at the option of the holder, at any time, to common stock of the Company using a conversion price
equal to the original issue price. Conversion occurs automatically upon the earlier to occur of (1) immediately prior to the closing of a firm commitment
underwritten public offering in which the public offering price is at least three times the conversion price then in effect and the aggregate gross proceeds to
the Corporation exceed $35,000,000 or (2) the date upon which the holders of at least 60% of the then outstanding shares of Series A preferred convert
their shares.

The holders of Series A preferred are entitled to cumulative cash dividends at the rate of 12% of the original issue price per annum if and when declared by
the Board of Directors. To the extent declared, the dividends are payable quarterly. No dividends have been declared by the Board of Directors on any of
the Company’s stock. Cumulative undeclared dividends on preferred stock are approximately $7,668,000 and $5,130,000 at December 31, 2009 and 2008,
respectively.
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Upon any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, the holders of the Series A preferred will be entitled to receive, in preference to the
holders of common stock a liquidation payment of $2.98 per preferred share (Liquidation Preference). Upon liquidation, the holders of the Series A
preferred are also entitled to receive any unpaid dividends up to three times the original issue price of $2.98 per preferred share. After these payments are
made to the Series A preferred holders, the remaining assets of the Company shall be distributed ratably among the holders of the common stock then
outstanding and the holders of the Series A preferred, on an as-converted basis.

The Series A preferred is redeemable upon receipt of a written request from the holders of not less than 60% of the then outstanding shares of Series A
preferred, at any time after October 4, 2011. The redemption amount will be paid in three annual installments. The redemption price is equal to the amount
per share equal to the original issue price per share plus accrued dividends, whether or not declared.

Stock Plan

For all share-based payment awards to employees, contractors and directors including stock options and restricted stock units compensation expense is
recognized based upon the grant-date fair value.

In September 2006, we adopted the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The plan permits the granting of equity-based incentive awards, including
incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units to be granted to our employees and directors. In 2009 the plan
was amended and we increased the number of shares available for issuance under the plan to 3,386,658.

At December 31, 2009 and 2008, there were 708,828 and 542,995 shares, respectively, available for grant under the Plan. We have granted restricted stock
and stock option awards under the Plan to employees, contractors and non-management directors. These awards are discussed below.

Restricted Stock

In September 2006, we granted 1,163,100 shares of restricted stock to certain employees. Most of these shares vested 25% at the grant date and the fair
value was recognized in earnings at the time of vesting. The remaining fair value of the grants is recognized in earnings monthly over the 48 month vesting
period. The fair value of these awards of $1 each was established by the Board of Directors on the date of grant based on the estimated of the fair value of
our common stock. In 2007, we issued 75,000 shares of restricted stock with a fair value of $1.72 as determined by the Board on the date of the grant.
These shares vest over 36 months. In 2008, 142,205 shares became fully vested under the terms of a separation agreement and no additional restricted stock
shares were issued.
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In March 2009, 329,791 shares of restricted stock were issued with fair value of $4.12 as determined by the Board on the date of grant. Vesting for 190,000
shares is over four years. The remaining 139,791 shares vest upon the occurrence of: (i) immediately prior to the consummation of a Change of Control of
the Company as defined, and (ii) the consummation of a firm commitment, underwritten initial public offering of the Company as defined, provided such
events occur within ten years of the date of grant. Vesting continues after termination of employment unless an employee is terminated for cause.

Restricted stock activity for 2009 and 2008 is as follows:

Restricted stock outstanding

Weighted
average
Number of grant date
shares fair value
Balance at January 1, 2008 557,016 $ 1.08
Granted — —
Vested (296,075) 1.06
Cancellations and forfeitures — —
Balance at December 31, 2008 260,941 $ 1.10
Granted 329,791 4.12
Vested (190,580) 1.69
Cancellations and forfeitures (31,518) 1.67
Balance at December 31, 2009 368,634 $ 335

In February 2010, approximately 270,000 shares of restricted stock were issued with a fair value of $3.77 as determined by the Board on the date of grant.

Stock Options

In 2007, the Company began granting stock option awards to certain employees and contractors. These options carry a term of ten years and vest ratably
over four years.

In March 2009, the Board authorized the modification of the exercise price of previously issued unexercised stock options to $4.12 per share from $8.38
and $11.37 per share. The repricing affected 47 participants and incremental expense was approximately $331,000.
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A summary of our stock option activity for years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 are as follows:

Balance at January 1, 2008

Granted

Exercised

Cancellations and Forfeitures
Balance at December 31, 2008

Granted

Exercised

Cancellations and Forfeitures
Balance at December 31, 2009

December 31, 2009 and 2008

Options outstanding

Weighted

average

Number exercise

of shares price

1,114,070 $ 5.37
622,094 7.16
(70,975) 1.42
(688,276) 5.88
976,913 $ 6.46
296,200 4.12
(637) 1.42
(202,631) 4.75
1,069,845 $ 3.61

In February 2010 approximately 34,000 new stock options with an exercise price of $3.77 per share were granted.

The following presents information about outstanding stock options, excluding restricted stock grants, at December 31, 2009.

Options outstanding

Weighted
average
remaining
Exercise contractual
price Number life (years
$ 142 203,414 7.31
4.12 866,431 9.15

Weighted
average
exercise

price
$ 142
4.12

Aggregate
intrinsic
value

$ 478,023

Options exercisable

Number

136,511
183,729

Weighted
average
exercise

price

$ 1.42
4.12

Aggregate
intrinsic
value

$ 320,800

Shares with a fair value of approximately $950,810 vested during 2009. Shares with an intrinsic value of approximately $1,497 were exercised during

2009.

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above is based on the estimated fair value of our common stock of $3.77 at December 31, 2009.
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Stock-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes the allocation of stock-based compensation expense (in thousands):

Years ended
December 31,

72009 2008
Cost of goods sold $ 21 $ 12
Sales and marketing 370 645
Research and development 440 848
General and administrative 545 548
Total stock-based compensation expense $1,376 $2,053

The fair value of our common stock is determined by an independent third party valuation of our Company.

The weighted-average estimated fair value of the stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 was approximately $2.63 and
$4.31, respectively, per share using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following assumptions: expected volatility for 2009 and 2008 was
70% and 65%, respectively, risk-free interest rate 1.71% - 3.0%, expected dividends 0.0%, and expected term 6.25 years.

The expected volatility assumption for 2009 and 2008 was based upon the historical volatility of comparable companies from a representative peer group
selected based on industry and market capitalization.

The risk-free interest rate assumption was based upon the implied yields from the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon yield curve with a remaining term equal to the
expected term of the options.

The expected term of employee stock options was calculated based on the simplified method.
The tax benefit realized for the tax deduction from option exercises was not significant for years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008.

At December 31, 2009, the balance of unearned stock-based compensation to be expensed in future periods related to unvested share-based awards is
approximately $2,963,000 for stock options and approximately $673,000 for restricted stock. The weighted-average period over which the unearned stock-
based compensation is expected to be recognized is approximately 2.8 years for stock options and 1.3 years for restricted stock, excluding 133,013 shares
valued at approximately $548,000 that vest upon the occurrence of: a Change of Control of the Company or the consummation of a firm commitment as
discussed above.
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Warrants
Escalate Capital

As of December 31, 2009, 443,312 warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock at $0.01 per share were outstanding. In April 2010, a warrant to
purchase 300,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $0.01 per share was issued. (See Note 4).

Related Party Warrants

In December 2008, we effectively issued 15,000 exercisable warrants to our Chief Executive Officer, to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock
at an exercise price of $4.12 per share. (See Note 9).

In January 2009, we issued warrants to purchase 364,080 shares of the Company’s common stock at $4.12 per share. These warrants were issued to the
holders of its Series A Preferred Stock, and our Chief Executive Officer in connection with the $7,500,000 Convertible Subordinated Notes (See Note 4).

In 2009 our Chief Executive Officer purchased 157,163 shares of Series A Preferred Stock for $468,000 and received 12,414 warrants. (See Note 9).

Common Shares Reserved

The following shares of common stock were reserved for issuance in connection with the conversion of outstanding preferred stock and the exercise of
outstanding options and warrants:

December 31,
2009 2008
Preferred stock 9,266,234 6,380,500
Stock options 1,069,845 976,913
Warrants 834,806 338,312
Total reserved 11,170,885 7,695,725

NOTE 7 - EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

We have a 401(k) benefit plan (the “401(k) Plan”) covering substantially all eligible employees. The Company matched 3% of eligible employee
contributions for all of 2008 and through the beginning of May 2009 at which point the Company ceased matching contributions. We may make
discretionary contributions to the 401(k) Plan, as determined by our Board. We have not made any discretionary contributions to the 401(k) plan. Employer
contributions for the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 were approximately $113,000 and $368,000, respectively.
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We have long-term operating lease agreements related to office space. For years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008 rent expense under operating leases
was $452,381. Future commitments are as follows (in thousands):

2010 $ 468
2011 468
2012 500
2013 500
2014 521
Thereafter —

Total $2,457

We have license agreements in place that commit us to pay royalties generally based on a percentage of the sales price of products using certain
technologies. We also accrued our best estimate for royalty costs in cases where we do not have agreements (See Note 1). We cannot be certain that our
products, services or technology do not or in the future will not infringe on valid intellectual property rights held by third parties. In addition, we cannot
assure you that third parties will not claim that we have infringed their intellectual property rights. In the future, we may be a party to litigation as a result
of an alleged infringement of others’ intellectual property. Successful infringement claims against us could result in substantial monetary liability, require
us to enter into royalty or licensing arrangements, or otherwise materially disrupt the conduct of our business. In addition, even if we prevail on these
claims, any related litigation could be time-consuming and expensive to defend or settle, and could result in the diversion of our time and attention and of

operational resources, which could materially and adversely affect our business. Any potential intellectual property litigation also could force us to do one
or more of the following:

. stop selling, incorporating or using our products and services that use the infringed intellectual property;

. seek from the owner of the infringed intellectual property right a license to sell or use the relevant technology, which license may not be
available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all; or

. redesign the products and services that use the technology.

From time to time we may become involved in legal proceedings with third parties arising in the ordinary course of business. Such actions may subject the
Company to significant liability and could be time consuming and expensive to resolve. The Company is not currently a party to, nor is aware of any such
litigation or other legal proceedings that could materially impact our financial position, statements of operations or liquidity.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2009 and 2008

NOTE 9 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to a 2006 agreement, we provide consulting, engineering, and administrative services to Modeci, Inc., an entity solely owned by Enfora’s majority
stockholder.

The amounts paid by Modeci to the Company for those transitional services in 2009 and 2008 was approximately $37,000 and $73,000, respectively. In
addition, Modeci may purchase Enfora products. For the years ending December 31, 2009 and 2008 we had sales to Modeci of approximately $179,000
and $214,000, respectively. Total accounts receivable, including transitional services from Modeci as of December 31, 2009 and 2008 were $3,357 and
$61,574, respectively. We make purchases from Modeci. For the years ended December 31, 2009 and 2008, we purchased approximately $0 and $21,000,
respectively. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, we did not have an accounts payable balance due to Modeci.

In December 2008, our Chief Executive Officer issued a six month irrevocable standby letter of credit to guaranty payments to one of our contract
manufacturers in the amount of $3,000,000. At December 31, 2009 and 2008, no guaranty payments have been made by the Chief Executive Officer to our
contract manufacturer. In exchange for the issuance of the $3,000,000 letter of credit, our Chief Executive Officer received exercisable warrants to
purchase 15,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $4.12 per share. The warrants were valued at approximately $28,000, expire in December 2015
and were expensed at time of issuance. The standby letter of credit expired in June 2009.

In January 2009, we entered into Convertible Subordinated Notes with our two major shareholders, and our Chief Executive Officer in an amount totaling
$7,500,000. In September 2009, the Convertible Subordinated Notes holders modified the notes by executing an Amendment and Conversion Agreement
to accelerate the right, and to convert, the outstanding principal and accrued but unpaid interest into shares of the Company’s Series A Preferred Stock. This
resulted in the issuance of 2,728,521 Series A Preferred Stock for approximately $8,125,000. (See Note 4).

Our Chief Executive Officer has committed to fund up to $1,500,000 if cash balances decrease to certain levels as defined, if there is an event of default
under our revolving line of credit agreement, or under certain circumstances as defined, to fund Escalate principal payments or certain other expenditures.
(See Note 4). If funding occurs, he will receive shares of Series A Preferred Stock equal to the amount funded divided by $2.9778. Additionally, as funding
occurs he will receive a pro-rata share of 150,000 warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at $0.01 per share.

In 2009 our Chief Executive Officer funded $468,000 and received 157,163 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and 12,414 warrants. The fair value of
$46,685 for the warrants was recorded to expense at time of issuance.

In March 2010 our Chief Executive Officer funded $234,000 and received 78,582 shares of Series A Preferred Stock.
In February 2010, our Chief Executive Officer received 32,700 shares of restricted stock with a fair value of $3.77 per share. (See Note 6).
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December 31, 2009 and 2008

NOTE 10 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

We have evaluated subsequent events through May 19, 2010, the date these financial statements were available to be issued. With the exception of those
matters discussed in Note 1, Note 4, Note 6 and Note 9, there are no other subsequent events that require disclosure.
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Report of Independent Certified Public Accountants

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors

Enfora, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Enfora, Inc. and subsidiary (a Delaware corporation) as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America as established by the American Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial
reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Enfora, Inc. and subsidiary
as of December 31, 2008 and 2007, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in conformity with accounting principles generally
accepted in the United States of America.

/s GRANT THORNTON LLP

Dallas, Texas
June 22, 2009



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value per share)

December 31,
2008 2007
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 3,717 $ 4,729
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $527 in 2008 and $290 in 2007 16,979 11,631
Inventories 10,713 17,651
Prepaid expenses 628 978
Total current assets 32,037 34,989
Property and equipment, net 2,986 2,224
Deposits and other prepayments 6 605
Total assets $ 35,029 $ 37,818
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Line of credit $ 10,996 $ 7,200
Notes payable - current portion 4,131 3,353
Accounts payable 7,849 12,323
Accrued liabilities 7,015 5,896
Total current liabilities 29,991 28,772
Long-term liabilities
Notes payable-noncurrent portion 9,525 6,585
Total long - term liabilities 9,525 6,585
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity
Redeemable convertible preferred stock - Series A, $0.001 par value, 7,000 shares authorized, 6,380 issued and outstanding
(liquidation value $24,130 and $21,850 including cumulative undeclared dividends at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively) 18,020 18,020
Common stock $0.001 par value, 19,000 shares authorized, 10,556 and 10,485 issued and outstanding at December 31, 2008
and 2007, respectively 11 10
Additional paid-in capital 4,574 1,746
Accumulated deficit (27,092) (17,315)
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (4,487) 2,461
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 35029 $ 37,818

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands)

Years ended December 31,

2008 2007
Revenues $95,897 $72,145
Cost of goods sold 70,886 56,746
Gross profit 25,011 15,399
Operating expenses
Research and development 12,319 8,853
Sales and marketing 10,047 6,749
General and administrative 9,427 5,614
Depreciation and amortization 980 552
Total operating expenses 32,773 21,768
Loss from operations (7,762) (6,369)
Other income (expense)
Interest expense (2,076) (820)
Interest income 77 249
Other income (expense), net 3) 26
Total other expense (2,002) (545)
Loss before income taxes (9,764) (6,914)
Provision for income taxes (13) (6)
Net loss $(9,777)  $(6,920)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Balance at January 1, 2007
Issuance of warrants
Stock-based compensation
Issuance of common stock
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2007
Issuance of warrants
Stock-based compensation
Issuance of common stock
Net loss

Balance at December 31, 2008

Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIT)
(In thousands)

Years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007

Redeemable Total
convertible Additional stockholders’
preferred stock Common stock paid-in Accumulated equity
Shares Amount Shares Amount capital deficit (deficit)
6,380 $18,020 10,410 $ 10 $ 485 $ (10,395) $ 8,120
— — — — 607 — 607
— — — — 548 — 548
— — 75 — 106 — 106
— — — — — (6,920) (6,920)
6,380 18,020 10,485 10 1,746 (17,315) 2,461
— — — — 674 — 674
— — — — 2,053 — 2,053
— — 71 1 101 — 102
— — — — — 9,777) 9,777)
6,380 $18,020 10,556 $ 11 $ 4574 $ (27,092) $ (4,487)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of this consolidated financial statement.

5



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

For the years ended December 31,

Operating activities
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities
Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Provision for doubtful accounts
Warrant expense
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Receivables
Inventory
Deposits
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Net cash used by operating activities
Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment
Net cash used by investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from line of credit
Payments on line of credit
Proceeds from notes payable
Repayment of term notes
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid during the period for
Interest
Income taxes
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities:
Warrants issued for debt and guarantee

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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2008 2007
$ (9,777)  $(6,920)
980 552
2,053 548
245 246
249 17
(5,593) (5,982)
6,938 (8,105)
— 16
350 (319)
(4,474) 7,530
1,130 2,448
(7,899) (9,969)
(1,742) (1,309)
(1,742) (1,309)
71,802 11,000
(68,006) (3,800)
8,000 4,000
(3,269) (3,062)
102 106
8,629 8,244
(1,012) (3,034)
4,729 7,763
$ 3,717 $ 4,729
$ 2,033 $ 802
6 J—

$ 674 $ 607



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2008 and 2007

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Description of Business

Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary (the “Company” or “Enfora”) is a provider of wireless networking solutions that enable enterprises to access, analyze and
leverage information from their geographically dispersed assets. Our solutions, consisting of wireless modules, integrated products, and enterprise
software, are based on our distributed-intelligence architecture that provides a valuable link between an enterprise and its remote assets. Enterprises deploy
our solutions for location-based, monitoring and control, and asset intelligence applications, including fleet management, automated meter reading, security
and surveillance and inventory management.

We were incorporated in Delaware in December 1998 as Nextcell Inc. In 2001, we changed our name to Enfora, Inc., and in 2003, we converted to a
limited partnership and became Enfora, L.P. On September 21, 2006, we converted from a partnership to a Delaware corporation in connection with an
investment by two outside venture capital firms.

Basis of Presentation

Our consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Enfora and its wholly owned subsidiary, Asia Pacific PTE Ltd., which was
established in 2007, and its wholly owned subsidiary. All intercompany balances and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

In conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, we are required to make accounting estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the consolidated financial statements and in the accompanying notes. The accounting estimates that require our most significant,
difficult and subjective judgments include:

. the valuation of inventory;

. the valuation of share-based compensation;

. the recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities;

. the collectability of accounts receivable;

. the valuation of contingent liabilities, including our product warranty reserve; and
. the estimate of potential royalty and license fees.

We believe the estimates, judgments, and assumptions upon which we rely are appropriate and correct, based upon information available to us at the time
that they are made. The actual results that we experience may differ materially from our estimates. If there are material differences between these estimates,
judgments, or assumptions and actual facts our consolidated financial statements will be affected.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2008 and 2007
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Financial Instruments

Financial instruments included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other assets,
accounts payable, and notes payable. Unless otherwise disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the carrying value of financial
instruments approximates fair value due to the short period of time to maturity. The carrying value of debt approximates fair value as terms approximate
those currently available for similar debt instruments. Equity options and warrants are priced using option pricing models and third party valuations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents
consist of bank deposits and money market funds. The Company places its cash and temporary cash investments with credit quality institutions. At times,
such amounts may be in excess of the FDIC insurance limit.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Accounts receivable is recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts.

We evaluate the collectability of our accounts receivable based on several factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer’s inability to
meet its financial obligations to us, we record a specific allowance for doubtful accounts against amounts due to us and reduce the net recorded receivable
to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected. We also consider recognizing allowances for doubtful accounts based on the length of time the
receivables are outstanding compared to contractual terms, industry and geographic concentrations, the current business environment, and our historical
experience. Accounts are written off after final collection efforts are exhausted. If the financial condition of our customers deteriorates or if economic
conditions worsen, increases in the allowance may be required in the future. We cannot predict future changes in the financial stability of our customers;
therefore, revisions to specific allowances may be required in the future.

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows (in thousands):

2008 2007
Beginning balance $290 $ 72
Provision for doubtful accounts 245 246
Write-offs _® _(28)
Ending balance $527 $290

The Company carries insurance on many of its trade customer accounts that provides limited coverage in the event of nonpayment.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2008 and 2007
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Inventory Valuation

Our inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or estimated net realizable value. Amounts are typically removed from inventory using the first-in,
first-out method. Adjustments to reduce our inventories to estimated realizable value, including write downs for excess and obsolete inventories, are
determined by comparing inventory levels of individual materials and parts to current demand forecasts and historical usage for those items. In addition, we
review other individual facts and circumstances to determine necessary adjustments to reduce our inventories to estimated realizable value. Actual amounts
realized upon the sale of inventories may differ from estimates used to determine inventory valuations due to changes in customer demand, technology, and
other factors.

Property and Equipment

Our property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. We calculate depreciation using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which generally range from three to seven years. We amortize leasehold improvements using the straight-line
method over the lesser of their estimated useful lives or remaining lease terms. Depreciation and amortization expense for the years ended December 31,
2008 and 2007 was $979,745 and $552,503, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from four sources:

. Product sales of modules and integrated products;
. Royalty revenues from licensing arrangements;

. Design services arrangements; and

. Enterprise software licensing agreements.

We derive our revenue primarily from sales of cellular-based modules and integrated products and, to a lesser extent, from product license fees and design
services. Embedded software in our hardware products has been incidental to the product value. Revenue from the sales of modules and integrated
platforms accounted for approximately 95% of total revenues for both 2008 and 2007.

Product Sales

Revenues from product sales of modules and integrated products are recognized when all of the following conditions are met: a) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists; b) the price is fixed or determinable; c) the service is performed (delivery); and d) collectability of the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured. Depending on the nature of the customer and the related sale terms, revenue is either recognized upon shipment or upon customer
payment. Inventories shipped for which the Company has not yet recognized revenue was $548,127 and $8,639,678 at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively and such amounts are included in finished goods inventories.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2008 and 2007
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Royalty Revenues

Certain customers use our know-how, or engineering design, as a component of their own product. We receive revenue from the licensing of the right to
manufacture certain products. Our royalties from these licenses scale from higher rates at product launch to lower rates as total production milestones are
met. These customers self report their sales to Enfora, after which the Company invoices the customer. Royalty revenue is recognized when earned
according to the terms of the agreements and when realization of collectability is considered reasonably assured. Where royalties are based upon licensee
sales, revenue is recognized upon analysis of sales results of licensees.

Design Services Arrangements

We provide engineering design and test services for our customers to enhance their usage of our products. Design service revenue is recognized as services
are performed over the term of the design services contract.

Enterprise Software Licensing Agreements

Statement of Position 97-2 “Software Revenue Recognition” applies to revenue generated by licensing, selling, leasing or otherwise marketing computer
software. It does not, however, apply to revenue earned on products or services containing software that is incidental to the overall product. During 2008
and 2007, software was incidental to our overall product and revenue was recognized at the same time as that of the product sale.

Shipping and Handling

Shipping and handling costs related to product shipments to customers are included in cost of goods sold.

Advertising

The Company expenses the costs of advertising as it is incurred. Advertising expenses for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $672,411 and
$134,691, respectively.

10



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2008 and 2007
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Product Warranty

We generally provide a minimum of a one-year warranty on all products sold in the United States. Warranties provided in most other countries carry a two-
year warranty if mandated by the specific country where the sales occur. Infrequently, warranties may exceed two years based on agreed-upon contract
terms. We record specific warranty provisions for any identified individual product issues.

Changes in the warranty accrual are as follows (in thousands):

2008 2007
Beginning balance $ 145 $ 71
Warranty provisions 1,107 380
Warranty claims (166) _(306)
Ending balance $1,086 $ 145

Royalty Expense

The Company has license agreements that commit us to pay royalties generally based on a percentage of the sales price of the products using certain
technologies. The Company recognizes royalty obligations in accordance with terms of the respective royalty agreements. The Company has also accrued
for royalty expenses in cases where it does not have agreements by using its current best estimate of its obligation (see Note 8). These estimates are based
on various market data and other relevant information. If the Company enters into such agreements, or when additional information becomes available,
estimates will be revised accordingly. Royalty expenses for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $2,092,196 and $2,451,534, respectively,
which are included in costs of goods sold.

Research and Development

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses, lab supplies, training, and prototype materials. We expense all of
our research and development costs in the period incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation

We adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payments, (SFAS No. 123(R)) for all share-based payment
awards to employees and including stock options, and restricted stock units. At the time of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), there were no outstanding stock
awards.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2008 and 2007
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Income Taxes

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of transactions and events. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect
for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. If necessary, deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance to an amount that is
determined to be more likely than not recoverable. We must make significant estimates and assumptions about future taxable income and future tax
consequences when determining the amount of the valuation allowance. Our deferred tax assets were fully reserved at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

In December 2008, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) FIN 48-3, “Effective Date of FASB Interpretation No. 48
for Certain Nonpublic Enterprises.” FSP FIN 48-3 permits an entity within its scope to defer the effective date of FASB Interpretation 48 (Interpretation
48), Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, to its annual financial statements for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The Company has
elected to defer the application of Interpretation 48 for the year ending December 31, 2008. The Company evaluates its uncertain tax positions using the
provisions of FASB Statement 5, Accounting for Contingencies. Accordingly, a loss contingency is recognized when it is probable that a liability has been
incurred as of the date of the financial statements and the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The amount recognized is subject to estimate and
management judgment with respect to the likely outcome of each uncertain tax position. The amount that is ultimately sustained for an individual uncertain
tax position or for all uncertain tax positions in the aggregate could differ from the amount recognized.

The Company is subject to the margin tax imposed by the State of Texas. The margin tax in general is based on gross revenue generated during the year
ended December 31, 2008 less a limited number of eligible deductions. The Company has accrued approximately $8,500 for the margin tax on the basis
that it will be taxed at a rate of 1.0%. The Company expects to pay the margin tax in May 2009. The margin tax is treated as an income tax for financial
reporting purposes since the FASB issued correspondence in August 2006 concluding that it would be subject to Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 109 — Accounting for Income Taxes.

Risk Concentration

Financial instruments that potentially expose Enfora to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of accounts receivable. At December 31, 2008 and
2007 approximately 83% and 78%, respectively of our net accounts receivable were due from ten customers. In 2008, the three largest customers
represented 24%, 12% and 11% of total Company revenues, and the related accounts receivable from the same customers was approximately 28%, 12%
and 12%, respectively. In 2007, our most significant customer accounted for approximately 20% of total Company revenues and the related accounts
receivable was approximately 52%. This same customer was our largest customer in 2008. The Company has customers in Asia, Africa, Europe, South
America and North America.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2008 and 2007
NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, approximately 82% and 80%, respectively of our net accounts receivable were due from customers in the United States.
We periodically evaluate our customers’ financial condition for creditworthiness and generally do not require collateral.

In March 2009, a portion of a customer’s accounts receivable balance outstanding at December 31, 2008, in the amount of $1,500,000 was converted into a
note receivable. The note bears interest at 10%, interest is due monthly and principal is due on April 1, 2010.

We depend on third-party contract manufacturers and subcontractors to manufacture all of our products. We do not have long-term supply agreements with
our manufacturers. We obtain products on a purchase order basis. The inability of a third-party manufacturer to continue manufacturing our products would
have a material adverse effect on our operations.

We provide component parts to two contract manufacturers in the form of raw materials that are used in the manufacturing process of the Company’s
products. Finished goods are then shipped directly from contract manufacturers to our customers or to our own facility. On occasion, our contract
manufacturers are also our customers. Amounts due from our contract manufacturers as customers for the purchase of raw materials are included in
accounts receivable. At December 31, 2008 and 2007, these amounts represented 8% and 10%, respectively, of the accounts receivable balance. No
revenue or cost of goods sold is recognized on raw material purchases by contract manufacturers for use in the manufacturing process of the Company’s
products.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2006, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued FASB Interpretation 48, (FIN No. 48) Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes
- an Interpretation of Financial Accounting Standards Board Statement No. 109. In December 2008, FASB issued FSP FIN 48-3, Effective Date of FASB
Interpretation No. 48 for Certain Nonpublic Enterprises, which delays the effective date for nonpublic enterprises to annual financial statements for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2008. This interpretation clarifies the accounting and disclosures relating to the uncertainty about whether a tax return
position will ultimately be sustained by the respective tax authorities. The adoption will not have a significant impact on our consolidated financial
statements.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2008 and 2007

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

In September 2006, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 157, Fair Value Measurements, (SFAS No. 157) which defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value, and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. The provisions of SFAS No. 157 are
effective for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007. In February 2008, the FASB issued FASB Staff Position (FSP) No. 157-2, Effective Date of
FASB Statement No. 157, which delays the effective date of SFAS No. 157 for all nonfinancial assets and nonfinancial liabilities other than those
recognized or disclosed at fair value in the financial statements on a recurring basis (at least annually), until fiscal years beginning after November 15,
2008. Effective January 1, 2008, we adopted SFAS No. 157 for financial assets and liabilities recognized at fair value on a recurring basis. The partial
adoption of SFAS No. 157 for financial assets and liabilities did not have an impact on our financial statements. The Company is currently evaluating the
impact of adopting SFAS No 157 for nonfinancial assets and liabilities.

In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities — including an Amendment of
FASB Statement No. 115 (SFAS No. 159) effective January 1, 2008. SFAS No. 159 permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and
certain other items and establishes presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate comparisons between entities that choose different
measurement attributes for similar types of assets and liabilities. Unrealized gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been elected are
reported in earnings at each subsequent reporting date. The January 1, 2008 adoption did not impact the Company’s consolidated financial statements as of
December 31, 2008, as the Company did not elect to adopt the fair value option and re-measure any of its assets or liabilities.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (revised 2007), Business Combinations (SFAS No. 141(R)). Under SFAS No. 141(R), an entity is
required to recognize the assets acquired, liabilities assumed, contractual contingencies, and contingent consideration at their fair value on the acquisition
date. It further requires that acquisition-related costs be recognized separately from the acquisition and expensed as incurred, restructuring costs generally
be expensed in periods subsequent to the acquisition date, and changes in accounting for deferred tax asset valuation allowances and acquired income tax
uncertainties after the measurement period impact income tax expense. In addition, acquired in-process research and development is capitalized as an
intangible asset and amortized over its estimated useful life. SFAS 141(R) is effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2008. The adoption of
this statement will change the Company’s accounting treatment for business combinations on a prospective basis. The Company believes that the adoption
of SFAS No. 141(R) will not have a material effect on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2008 and 2007

NOTE 2 - INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following (table in thousands):

December 31,

2008 2007
Raw materials $ 1,318 $ 2,910
Work in process 41 6
Finished goods 9,354 14,735
Total inventory $10,713 $17,651

Inventory at customer sites for which the Company has not yet recognized revenue was $548,127 and $8,639,678 at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively and is included in finished goods.

NOTE 3 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following (table in thousands):

Esseti'l;lllii:aed December 31,
life 2008 2007
Equipment 3to5 $ 2,341 $ 1,934
Software 3t05 2,190 1,282
Computer hardware 3to5 1,377 995
Furniture and fixtures 5to7 370 325
Leasehold improvements 7 111 111
Total property and equipment 6,389 4,647
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (3,403) (2,423)
Net property and equipment $ 2,986 $ 2,224

The Company disposed of $0 and $905,759 of fully depreciated assets during 2008 and 2007, respectively.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2008 and 2007

NOTE 4 - DEBT

Our outstanding debt obligations are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,

2008 2007

Silicon Valley Bank Line of Credit $ 10,996 $ 7,200
Silicon Valley Bank Term Notes 2,669 5,938
Escalate Capital Note 12,000 4,000
Total debt 25,665 17,138
Less:

Unamortized debt discount (1,013) —

Current maturities of long-term debt (15,127) (10,553)
Long-term debt $ 9,525 $ 6,585

Silicon Valley Bank (SVB)_Line of Credit

In July 2006, we executed a revolving line of credit agreement with Silicon Valley Bank. Interest was payable monthly at the prime rate plus 0.50% per
annum (8.0% at December 31, 2007). The line of credit was collateralized by the Company’s inventory, accounts receivable, and equipment.

In April 2008, the revolving line of credit was amended to provide for borrowings limited to a borrowing base calculation of eligible accounts receivable
and inventory. In addition, the amendment revised certain other terms and conditions and revised the interest rate to be based on rates ranging from the
greater of the prime rate plus 1.0% or 6.5%; or the greater of the prime rate plus 1.5% or 7.0%, depending upon the Company’s actual quick ratio as
defined. At December 31, 2008, the interest rate was 7.0%. In August 2008, the revolving line of credit was amended and revised the EBITDA calculation
and removed the liquidity ratio covenant.

As of December 31, 2008, the Company was not in compliance with the covenants and received a waiver of existing defaults from Silicon Valley Bank in
January 2009. The waiver also amended certain terms and conditions and revised the interest rate effective in January 2009 to be based on rates ranging
from the greater of the prime rate plus 1.5% or 7.0%; or the greater of the prime rate plus 2.0% or 7.5%, depending upon the Company’s actual quick ratio
as defined. At December 31, 2008 there was approximately $42,000 available for borrowing under the line of credit.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
December 31, 2008 and 2007
NOTE 4 - DEBT - Continued

In March and June 2009, the revolving line of credit was amended to provide for maximum borrowings of $13,500,000 limited to a revised borrowing base
calculation of eligible receivables and certain inventory. In addition, the amendment waived existing defaults and revised the following: the interest rate to
the greater of 2.5% above prime or 8%, the EBITDA calculation, the liquidity coverage ratio covenant, the annual capital expenditure limitation and
extended the maturity date from April 30, 2009 to January 31, 2010. The June 2009 amendment also requires the Company’s Chief Executive Officer to
fund up to $2,000,000 under the same terms and conditions as the Company’s Convertible Subordinated Notes (see below), if there is an event of default
under the revolving line of credit agreement, or if cash balances decrease to certain levels as defined. The Company’s Chief Executive officer is also
required to fund the amount of principal payments that may be required under the Escalate Note through January 30, 2010.

Silicon Valley Bank Term Notes

At December 31, 2007, we had two term notes with principal amounts of $2,486,000 (Term Note 1) and $3,452,000 (Term Note 2). The notes provided for
monthly interest payments until January 2007 at prime plus 0.50%. Thereafter, the interest rate is 8.75% and principal and interest payments are made in
equal monthly installments until maturity in June 2009 and December 2009, for Term Notes 1 and 2, respectively. At December 31, 2008 the principal
amounts on the terms notes was $2,669,000. The notes are collateralized by accounts receivable, inventory, equipment and general assets of the Company.
In March 2009, the Company paid the outstanding balances due Silicon Valley Bank under the two term notes.

Escalate Capital Note

In November 2007, we entered into a note and warrant agreement with Escalate Capital (“Escalate”). Pursuant to the agreement, the Company issued
warrants to purchase 74,437 of common shares at an exercise price per share of $11.37. The warrants vest upon issuance. Exercise prices of the warrants
are based on the value of the Company’s shares at the time of vesting. The warrants carry a term of seven years. Total funds received at the initial
borrowing of $4,000,000 were allocated $607,000 to the warrants and $3,393,000 to the note.

In accordance with EITF No. 00-27, Application of Issue No. 98-5 to Certain Convertible Instruments, the values assigned to both the note and the warrants
were allocated based on their relative fair values. The relative fair value of the warrants of $607,000 at the time of issuance, which was determined using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, was recorded as additional paid-in capital and reduced the carrying value of the note. The discount on the note is
being amortized to interest expense over the term of the note. At December 31, 2007, the unamortized discount on the note is approximately $588,000.
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December 31, 2008 and 2007
NOTE 4 - DEBT - Continued

Under the terms of the initial note agreement, we can borrow up to $12,000,000 from Escalate through October 31, 2008. At December 31, 2007, we have
borrowed $4,000,000 under this arrangement. The note bears interest at 11% through August 31, 2008 and 12.5% thereafter. Interest payments are due
monthly beginning December 31, 2007. This note is collateralized by all personal property of the Company. The Escalate note is subject to financial and
other covenants.

In May 2008 and September 2008, the Company completed amendments to the loan and security agreement which provided waivers of default. In addition,
the financial covenants were amended to be based on minimum EBITDA as defined in the agreement, the borrowing date was extended from October 31,
2008 to June 30, 2009, and the warrant exercise price on the outstanding warrants was changed to $5.90. The Company accounted for the warrant exercise
price change as a modification in terms and revalued the warrants. Any additional expense will be recognized over the remaining term of the note. The
principal balance repayments will occur over 30 months commencing July 31, 2009 and maturing December 31, 2011.

In 2008, the Company borrowed an additional $8,000,000 under the Escalate note agreement. Pursuant to the agreement, 248,875 warrants with a life of
seven years were issued and vested proportionately at the time of each additional borrowing. Total borrowings of $8,000,000 were allocated $646,000 to
the warrants and $7,354,000 to the note. The values assigned to both the note and the warrants were allocated based on their relative fair values in
accordance with EITF No. 00-27, as discussed above. The discount on the note is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the note.

At December 31, 2008, the total borrowings under the Escalate note are $12,000,000 and the total unamortized discount is approximately $1,013,000. A
total of 323,312 warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock at $5.90 are held by Escalate at December 31, 2008. At December 31, 2008, the
Company was not in compliance with the covenants and received a waiver from Escalate.

In June 2009, the Escalate note agreement was amended to revise the interest rate from 12.5% to 13.5%, the EBITDA calculation, the annual capital
expenditure limitation and to allow for the deferral of seventy four percent of the principal payments due from the period July 31, 2009 through March 31,
2010, so long as no event of default occurs during the deferral period, with the deferred principal payments due at maturity. In addition, the amendment
reduced the exercise price on the 323,312 existing outstanding warrants from $5.90 per share to $0.01 per share, included the issuance of a new warrant to
purchase 120,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $0.01 per share, and waived existing defaults.
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NOTE 4 - DEBT - Continued

Convertible Subordinated Notes

In January 2009, the Company entered into Convertible Subordinated Notes with the holders of its Series A Preferred Stock and the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer in an amount totaling $7,500,000. The notes bear interest at 12%. The outstanding principal amount of the notes and interest, with unpaid
interest through January 15, 2012 is payable in twelve equal monthly payments beginning on January 15, 2012. The Notes may be converted into Series A
Preferred Stock of the Company at a conversion price of $2.9778 per share at the option of the holder if the Notes are outstanding on the one year
anniversary of their issuance or if there is a change in control of the Company. If the Company should issue a new round of equity financing of at least $15
million (including the proceeds of the notes) the notes shall be automatically converted into shares of capital stock issued in such financing at the same
price per share offered to other investors in such financing. Warrants to purchase 364,080 shares of the Company’s common stock at $4.12 per share were
issued to the Convertible Subordinated Note holders. The warrants are exercisable as of the date of issuance and carry a term of seven years. The Company
will record the notes, conversion feature and warrants at fair value.

The Company’s Chief Executive Officer has committed to fund up to an additional $2,000,000 on the same terms and conditions as the Convertible
Subordinated Notes if cash balances decrease to certain levels as defined (See Note 9). If additional funding occurs, warrants to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock will be issued to the Chief Executive Officer. The number of warrants will be determined by dividing 20% of the principal
amount of the additional funding by the fair market value of the Company’s common stock on the date of issuance. The warrants will be exercisable on the
date of issuance and carry a term of seven years.

In December 2008, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer issued a six month irrevocable standby letter of credit to guaranty payments to one of the
Company’s contract manufacturers in the amount of $3,000,000. At December 31, 2008, no guaranty payments have been made by the Chief Executive
Officer to the Company’s contract manufacturer (see Note 9). In exchange for the issuance of the $3,000,000 letter of credit, our Chief Executive Officer
received exercisable warrants to purchase 15,000 shares of the Company’s common stock at $4.12 per share. The warrants were valued at approximately
$28,000, expire in December 2015 and were expensed at time of issuance. The standby letter of credit expired in June 2009.
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Debt Maturities

Maturities of our outstanding indebtedness as of December 31, 2008 are as follows (in thousands):

2009 $15,465
2010 4,560
2011 5,640
2012 —
2013 —
Thereafter —
Total $25,665

Letter of Credit

At December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company has a letter of credit of $338,000 outstanding with Silicon Valley Bank. The letter of credit was issued in
2007 to guarantee certain future payments to our building landlord, in accordance with our office lease agreement. The Company has no outstanding
borrowings associated with the letters of credit at December 31, 2008 and 2007.

NOTE 5 - INCOME TAXES

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are computed by applying the effective U.S. federal and state income tax rate to the gross amounts of temporary
differences and other tax attributes. In assessing the realizability of deferred tax assets, management considers whether it is more likely than not that some
portion or all of the deferred tax assets will not be realized. The ultimate realization of deferred tax assets is dependent upon the generation of future
taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred tax
liabilities, projected future taxable income, and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. At December 31, 2008, future tax benefits from net
operating loss carryforwards and other deferred tax assets and are fully reserved.

The Company has available net operating loss carry forwards of $13,297,162 available through years 2027-2028 if not utilized sooner.
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The following table summarizes the difference between the actual tax provision and the amounts obtained by applying the statutory tax rates to the income
or loss before income taxes for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 (in thousands):

Years ended
December 31,

2008 2007

Tax provision (benefit) calculated at statutory rate $(3,437) $(2,415)
Permanent differences 675 11
State income tax S) 6
Foreign rate differential (13) —

Total (2,770) (2,398)
Increase to valuation allowance 2,783 2,404
Provision for income taxes $ 13 $ 6

The components of the net deferred federal income tax assets (liabilities) were as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2008 2007

Deferred tax assets

Bad debt allowance $ 185 $ 102

Goodwill 4,621 5,083

Trademarks 58 64

Accruals 464 134

Inventory reserve 1,119 1,232

Nongqualified stock options 131 —

Warrants 10 —

Net operating loss 4,654 1,873
Deferred tax liabilities

Property and equipment (110) 41)

Restricted stock awards (76) (174)

Net 11,056 8,273

Less valuation allowance (11,056) (8,273)
Net deferred taxes $ — $ —
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December 31, 2008 and 2007

NOTE 6 - STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

As of December 31, 2008, we are authorized to issue 26,000,000 shares of capital stock, of which 7,000,000 and 19,000,000 shares are reserved for
preferred and common stock, respectively.

In January 2009, the Company amended the Certificate of Incorporation to increase the number of shares of authorized capital stock to 40,000,000, of
which 12,500,000 and 27,500,000 shares are reserved for preferred and common stock, respectively.

Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock

On October 4, 2006, we entered into a securities purchase agreement whereby investors purchased an aggregate of 6,380,550 shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock (Series A preferred) for $18,020,000 in cash, net of expenses of $980,000, for an original issue price of $2.98 per preferred
share.

Each holder of Series A preferred generally votes with our common stock and is entitled to the number of votes equal to the number of shares of common
stock into which the preferred stock could be converted.

Each share of the Series A preferred is convertible, at the option of the holder, at any time, to common stock of the Company using a conversion price
equal to the original issue price. Conversion occurs automatically upon the earlier to occur of (1) immediately prior to the closing of a firm commitment
underwritten public offering in which the public offering price is at least three times the conversion price then in effect and the aggregate gross proceeds to
the Corporation exceed $35,000,000 or (2) the date upon which the holders of at least 60% of the then outstanding shares of Series A preferred convert
their shares.

The holders of Series A preferred are entitled to cumulative cash dividends at the rate of 12% of the original issue price per annum if and when declared by
the Board of Directors. To the extent declared, the dividends are payable quarterly. No dividends have been declared by the Board of Directors on any of
the Company’s stock. Cumulative undeclared dividends on preferred stock are approximately $5,130,000 and $2,850,000 at December 31, 2008 and 2007,
respectively.

Upon any liquidation, dissolution, or winding up of the Company, the holders of the Series A preferred will be entitled to receive, in preference to the
holders of common stock a liquidation payment of $2.98 per preferred share (Liquidation Preference). Upon liquidation, the holders of the Series A
Preferred are also entitled to receive any unpaid dividends up to three times the original issue price of $2.98 per preferred share. After these payments are
made to the Series A preferred holders, the remaining assets of the Company shall be distributed ratably among the holders of the common stock then
outstanding and the holders of the Series A preferred, on an as-converted basis.
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The Series A preferred is redeemable upon receipt of a written request from the holders of not less than 60% of the then outstanding shares of Series A
preferred, at any time after October 4, 2011. The redemption amount will be paid in three annual installments. The redemption price is equal to the amount
per share equal to the original issue price per share plus accrued dividends, whether or not declared.

In January 2009, the Company entered into Convertible Subordinated Notes with the holders of its Series A Preferred Stock, and the Company’s Chief
Executive Officer in an amount totaling $7,500,000 (see Note 4).

Stock Plan

Effective January 1, 2006, we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of SFAS No. 123 (revised 2004), Share-Based Payments, (SFAS No. 123(R))
for all share-based payment awards to employees, contractors and directors including stock options and restricted stock units. In addition, we have applied
the provisions of SAB No. 107, issued by the SEC, in our adoption of SFAS No. 123(R). At the time of adoption of SFAS No. 123(R), there were no
outstanding stock awards.

In September 2006, we adopted the 2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “Plan”). The Plan permits the granting of 2,758,008 equity-based incentive awards,
including incentive stock options, nonqualified stock options, restricted stock and restricted stock units to be granted to our employees and directors. At
December 31, 2008 and 2007, there were 542,995, and 405,838 shares, respectively, available for grant under the Plan. We have granted restricted stock
and stock option awards under the Plan to employees and non-management directors. These awards are discussed below.

In April 2009, the Company’s stockholders approved increasing the number of shares available for issuance as equity-based incentive awards to 3,386,658.

Restricted Stock

In September 2006, we granted 1,163,100 shares of restricted stock to certain employees. Most of these shares vested 25% at the grant date and the fair
value was recognized in earnings at the time of vesting. The remaining fair value of the grants are recognized in earnings monthly over the 48 month
vesting period. The fair value of these awards of $1 each was established by the Board of Directors on the date of grant based on the estimated of the fair
value of our common stock. In 2007, we issued 75,000 shares of restricted stock with a fair value of $1.72 as determined by the Board on the date of the
grant. These shares vest over 36 months. In 2008, 142,205 shares became fully vested under the terms of a separation agreement and no additional
restricted stock shares were issued.
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Restricted stock activity for 2008 and 2007 is as follows:

Restricted stock outstanding

Weighted
average
Number of grant date
shares fair value
Balance at January 1, 2007 677,180 $ 1.00
Granted 75,000 1.72
Vested (195,164) 1.03
Cancellations and forfeitures — —
Balance at December 31, 2007 557,016 1.08
Granted — —
Vested (296,075) 1.06
Cancellations and forfeitures — —
Balance at December 31, 2008 260,941 $ 1.10

In March 2009, approximately 330,000 shares of restricted stock were issued with fair value of $4.12 as determined by the Board on the date of grant
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Stock Options

Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiary

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

December 31, 2008 and 2007

In 2007, the Company began granting stock option awards to certain employees and contractors. These options carry a term of ten years and vest ratably
over four years. A summary of our stock option activity for years ended December 31, 2007 and 2008 are as follows:

Balance at January 1, 2007

Granted
Exercised

Cancellations and Forfeitures
Balance at December 31, 2007

Granted
Exercised

Cancellations and Forfeitures
Balance at December 31, 2008

Options outstanding

Weighted

average

Number exercise

of shares price

1,117,770 $ 5.37
(3,700) 1.42
1,114,070 $ 5.37
622,094 7.16
(70,975) 1.42
(688,276) 5.88
976,913 $ 6.46

In March 2009, the Board authorized the modification of the exercise price of previously issued unexercised stock options to $4.12 per share from $8.38
and $11.37 per share. Additionally, in March and June 2009, approximately 296,000 new stock options with an exercise price of $4.12 were granted.

The following presents information about outstanding stock options, excluding restricted stock grants, at December 31, 2008.

Options outstandin;

Options exercisable

Weighted
average
remaining Weighted Weighted
contractual average Aggregate average Aggregate
Exercise life exercise intrinsic exercise intrinsic
price Number (years) price value Number price value
$ 1.42 260,900 8.30 $1.42 $704,430 102,599 $1.42 $277,018
11.37 232,480 8.55 11.37 — 75,590 11.37 —
8.38 305,333 9.51 8.38 — 76,490 8.38 —
4.12 178,200 9.89 4.12 — 44,641 4.12 —
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Shares with a fair value of approximately $1,622,274 vested during 2008. Shares with an intrinsic value of approximately $494,000 were exercised during
2008.

The aggregate intrinsic value in the table above is based on the estimated fair value of our common stock of $4.12 at December 31, 2008.

Stock-Based Compensation

The following table summarizes the allocation of stock-based compensation expenses under SFAS No. 123(R) (in thousands):

Years ended

December 31,
2008 2007
Cost of goods sold $ 12 $ 4
Sales and marketing 645 217
Research and development 848 204
General and administrative 548 123
Total stock-based compensation expense $2,053 $548

The fair value of our common stock is determined by an independent third party valuation of our Company.

The weighted-average estimated fair value of the stock options granted during the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 was approximately $7.16 and
$5.37, respectively, per share using the Black-Scholes-Merton option-pricing model with the following assumptions: expected volatility for 2008 and 2007
was 65% and 80%, respectively, risk-free interest rate 1.14% - 4.9%, expected dividends 0.0%, and expected term 6.25 years.

The expected volatility assumption for 2008 and 2007 was based upon the historical volatility of comparable companies from a representative peer group
selected based on industry and market capitalization.

The risk-free interest rate assumption was based upon the implied yields from the U.S. Treasury zero-coupon yield curve with a remaining term equal to the
expected term of the options.

The expected term of employee stock options was calculated based on the simplified method as permitted by the SEC’s SAB No. 107.
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The tax benefit realized for the tax deduction from option exercises was not significant for years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007.

At December 31, 2008, the balance of unearned stock-based compensation to be expensed in future periods related to unvested share-based awards is
approximately $3,238,685 for stock options and approximately $235,859 for restricted stock. The weighted-average period over which the unearned stock-
based compensation is expected to be recognized is approximately 3.0 years for stock options and 1.75 years for restricted stock.

Warrants
Escalate Capital

As of December 31, 2008, 323,312 warrants to purchase the Company’s common stock at $5.90 per share were outstanding. In June 2009, the exercise
price of those warrants was changed to $0.01 and a new warrant was issued to purchase 120,000 shares of the Company’s common stock for $0.01 per
share (see Note 4).

Related Party Warrants

In December 2008, The Company effectively issued 15,000 exercisable warrants to purchase shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price
of $4.12 per share (see Note 9).

In January 2009, the Company issued warrants to purchase 364,080 shares of the Company’s common stock at $4.12 per share. These warrants were issued
to the holders of its Series A Preferred Stock, and the Company’s Chief Executive Officer in connection with the $7,500,000 Convertible Subordinated
Notes (see Note 4).

Common Shares Reserved

At December 31, 2008, the following shares of common stock were reserved for issuance in connection with the conversion of outstanding preferred stock
and the exercise of outstanding options and warrants:

December 31,
2008 2007
Preferred stock 6,380,500 6,380,500
Stock options 976,913 1,114,070
Warrants 338,312 74,437
Total reserved 7,695,725 7,569,007
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NOTE 7 - EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

The Company has a 401(k) benefit plan (the “401(k) Plan”) covering substantially all eligible employees. The Company matches 3% of eligible employee
contributions, in addition to making discretionary contributions, as determined by our Board. We have not made any discretionary contributions to the
401(k) plan. Employer contributions for the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $368,000 and $242,000, respectively.

NOTE 8 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

The Company has long-term operating lease agreements related to office space. Rent expense under operating leases for years ended December 31, 2008
and 2007 was $452,381 and $546,015, respectively. During 2007, the Company’s rent expense included utilities. Beginning in 2008 utility expense is no
longer a component of rent expense. Future commitments are as follows (in thousands):

2009 $ 468
2010 468
2011 468
2012 500
2013 500
Thereafter 521
Total $2,925

We have license agreements in place that commit us to pay royalties generally based on a percentage of the sales price of products using certain
technologies. The Company has also accrued its best estimate for royalty costs in cases where we do not have agreements (See Note 1). We cannot be
certain that our products, services or technology do not or in the future will not infringe on valid intellectual property rights held by third parties. In
addition, we cannot assure you that third parties will not claim that we have infringed their intellectual property rights. In the future, we may be a party to
litigation as a result of an alleged infringement of others’ intellectual property. Successful infringement claims against us could result in substantial
monetary liability, require us to enter into royalty or licensing arrangements, or otherwise materially disrupt the conduct of our business. In addition, even if
we prevail on these claims, any related litigation could be time-consuming and expensive to defend or settle, and could result in the diversion of our time
and attention and of operational resources, which could materially and adversely affect our business. Any potential intellectual property litigation also
could force us to do one or more of the following:

. stop selling, incorporating or using our products and services that use the infringed intellectual property;

. seek from the owner of the infringed intellectual property right a license to sell or use the relevant technology, which license may not be
available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all; or

. redesign the products and services that use the technology.
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From time to time the Company may become involved in legal proceedings with third parties arising in the ordinary course of business. Such actions may
subject the Company to significant liability and could be time consuming and expensive to resolve. The Company is not currently a party to, nor is aware
of any such litigation or other legal proceedings that could materially impact the Company’s financial position, statements of operations or liquidity.

NOTE 9 - - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to a 2006 agreement, the Company provides consulting, engineering, and administrative services to Modeci, Inc., an entity solely owned by
Enfora’s majority stockholder. The amounts paid by Modeci to the Company for those transitional services in 2008 and 2007 was approximately $73,000
and $123,000, leaving a receivable balance due for transitional services of $20,100 and $17,172, respectively. In addition, Modeci may purchase Enfora
products, for the years ending December 31, 2008 and 2007 the Company had sales to Modeci of approximately $214,000 and $3,000, respectively. Total
accounts receivable, including transitional services from Modeci as of December 31, 2008 and 2007 were $61,574 and $16,798, respectively. The
Company purchases inventory display units from Modeci. For the years ended December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company purchased approximately
$21,000 and $533,000, respectively. As of December 31, 2008 and 2007, the Company had an accounts payable balance due to Modeci of $-0- and
$235,000, respectively.

In December 2008, the Company’s Chief Executive Officer executed an irrevocable standby letter of credit to guarantee payments to one of the Company’s
contract manufacturers in the amount of $3,000,000. At the effective date the Company issued 15,000 exercisable warrants to purchase shares of the
Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $4.12 per share and carry a term of seven years. At December 31, 2008, no guaranty payments have been
made by the Chief Executive Officer to the Company’s contract manufacturer. The standby letter credit expired in June 2009.

In January 2009, the Company entered into Convertible Subordinated Notes with its two major shareholders, and the Company’s Chief Executive Officer in
an amount totaling $7,500,000. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer has committed to fund up to an additional $2,000,000 on the same terms and
conditions as the Convertible Subordinated Notes if cash balances reach certain levels as defined or if there is an event of default under the Company’s
revolving line of credit agreement (see Note 4).

The Company’s Chief Executive officer is also required to fund the amount of principal payments that are required under the Escalate Note through
January 31, 2010 (see Note 4).

NOTE 10 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In 2009 there were a series of transactions effecting the Company’s accounts receivable, debt, equity and related parties. See Note 1, Note 4, Note 6 and
Note 9.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value per share)

September 30, December 31,
2010 2009
(Unaudited) (Audited)
ASSETS
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 4221 $ 4,161
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $505 at September 30, 2010 and $577 at December 31,
2009 9,659 8,608
Inventories 6,062 7,022
Note receivable — 1,500
Prepaid expenses 943 680
Total current assets 20,885 21,971
Property and equipment, net 1,394 2,000
Deposits and other prepayments 140 187
Total assets $ 22419 $ 24,158
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities
Line of credit $ 5,839 $ 5,189
Notes payable - current portion 3,374 828
Accounts payable 2,640 3,389
Accrued liabilities 4,624 5,139
Total current liabilities 16,477 14,545
Long-term liabilities
Notes payable - noncurrent portion 6,246 9,342
Warrant liability 873 416
Total long-term liabilities 7,119 9,758
Commitments and contingencies (Note 7)
Stockholders’ equity
Redeemable convertible preferred stock - Series A, $0.001 par value, 12,500 shares authorized 9,345 and 9,266 issued
and outstanding (liquidation value $37,992 and $35,261 including cumulative undeclared dividends) at
September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively 26,759 26,613
Common stock $ 0.001 par value, 27,500 shares authorized, 11,193 and 10,855 issued and outstanding at
September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, respectively 11 11
Additional paid-in capital 12,423 11,343
Accumulated deficit (40,385) (38,116)
Cumulative translation adjustment 15 4
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) (1,177) (145)
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 22419 $ 24,158

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
Nine months ending September 30, 2010 and 2009
(In thousands)

2010 2009
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
Revenues $ 46,455 $ 37,717
Cost of goods sold 29,650 25,987
Gross profit 16,805 11,730
Operating expenses
Research and development 6,939 5,509
Sales and marketing 4,576 4,452
General and administrative 4,469 4,394
Depreciation and amortization 853 870
Total operating expenses 16,837 15,225
Loss from operations (32) (3,495)
Other income (expense)
Interest expense - cash (1,479) (1,693)
Interest expense - non-cash (709) (5,511)
Other income, net 6 98
Total other expense (2,182) (7,106)
Loss before income taxes (2,214) (10,601)
Provision for income taxes (55) 5)
Net loss $ (2,269) $(10,606)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Nine months ending September 30, 2010 and 2009

Operating activities
Net loss

(In thousands)

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided (used)by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization
Stock-based compensation
Provision for doubtful accounts
Interest expense non-cash
Changes in operating assets and liabilities
Receivables
Inventory
Notes receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Net cash provided (used) by operating activities
Investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment
Disposition of property and equipment
Net cash used by investing activities
Financing activities:
Proceeds from line of credit
Payments on line of credit
Repayment of notes payable
Proceeds from subordinated convertible debt
Proceeds from sale of preferred stock
Proceeds from sale of common stock
Net cash provided (used) by financing activities
Effect of exchange rate on cash
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

Supplemental disclosures:
Cash paid during the period for
Interest
Income taxes
Supplemental schedule of noncash investing and financing activities:
Warrants issued for debt and guarantee
Conversion of subordinated debt for preferred stock

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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2010 2009
(Unaudited) (Unaudited)
$ (2,269)  $(10,606)

853 870
986 1,001
(117) 326
709 5,511
(935) 6,221
961 4,344
1,500 (1,500)
49 (64)
(746) (4,628)
(511) (1,725)
480 (250)
(255) (166)

8 R

(247) (166)

54,178 39,113
(53,528) (43,124)

(1,060) (2,903)

— 7,500
234 468
— 1
(176) 1,055

3 1)
60 638

4,161 3,717
$ 4221 $ 4355
$ 1,479 $ 1,693

6 14
$ 93 $ 1,673
$ — $ 8,125



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Description of Business

Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries (“we”, the “Company” or “Enfora”) is a provider of wireless networking solutions that enable enterprises to access, analyze
and leverage information from their geographically dispersed assets. Our solutions, consisting of wireless modules, integrated products, and enterprise
software, are based on our distributed-intelligence architecture that provides a valuable link between an enterprise and its remote assets. Enterprises deploy
our solutions for location-based, monitoring and control, and asset intelligence applications, including fleet management, automated meter reading, security
and surveillance and inventory management.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles for
interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted accounting principles
for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all normal, recurring adjustments considered necessary for a fair presentation have been
included. The financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009. Interim
results of operations are not necessarily indicative of the results to be expected for the full year or any other interim periods.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. All intercompany balances and transactions
have been eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

In conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, we are required to make accounting estimates, judgments, and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the unaudited consolidated financial statements and in the accompanying notes. The accounting estimates that require our most
significant, difficult and subjective judgments include:

. the valuation of inventory;

. the valuation of share-based compensation;

. the recognition and measurement of deferred tax assets and liabilities;

. the collectability of accounts receivable;

. the valuation of contingent liabilities, including our product warranty reserve; and
. the estimate of potential royalty and license fees.

We believe the estimates, judgments, and assumptions upon which we rely are appropriate and correct, based upon information available to us at the time
they are made. The actual results we experience may differ materially from our estimates. If there are material differences between these estimates,
judgments, or assumptions and actual facts our consolidated financial statements will be affected.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

New Accounting Pronouncements

In January 2010, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) 2010-16, “Fair Value Measurements
and Disclosures”, guidance that expands the interim and annual disclosure requirements of fair value measurements, including the information about
movement of assets between Level 1 and 2 of the three-tier fair value hierarchy established under its fair value measurement guidance. This guidance also
requires separate disclosure for purchases, sales, issuances and settlements in the reconciliation for fair value measurements using significant unobservable
inputs using Level 3 methodologies. Except for the detailed disclosure in the Level 3 reconciliation, which is effective for the fiscal years beginning after
December 15, 2010, all the other disclosures under this guidance became effective during the nine months ended September 30, 2010. We adopted the
relevant provisions of this guidance effective January 1, 2010, which did not have a material impact on our financial statements.

In April 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010-17, “Revenue Recognition — Milestone Method”, which provides guidance on when it may be appropriate to
apply the milestone method of revenue recognition for research or development transactions. Under the milestone method of revenue recognition, a vendor
can recognize consideration that is contingent upon achievement of a milestone as revenue in the period in which the milestone is achieved only if the
milestone meets all criteria that are considered to be substantive. Accordingly, this ASU provides guidance on the definition of a milestone and determining
whether a milestone is substantive. This accounting guidance is effective for interim and annual periods ending after June 15, 2010. We have adopted this
guidance effective July 1, 2010, which did not have a material impact on our financial statements.

Financial Instruments

Financial instruments included in the Company’s consolidated financial statements include cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, other assets,
accounts payable, and notes payable. Unless otherwise disclosed in the notes to the consolidated financial statements, the carrying value of financial
instruments approximates fair value due to the short period of time to maturity. The carrying value of debt approximates fair value as terms approximate
market terms currently available for similar debt instruments. Equity options and warrants are priced using option pricing models and third party
valuations.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

We consider highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less at date of purchase to be cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents
consist of bank deposits and money market funds. The Company places its cash and temporary cash investments with credit quality institutions. At times,
such amounts may be in excess of the FDIC insurance limit.

Accounts Receivable and Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

Accounts receivable is recorded net of an allowance for doubtful accounts.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

We evaluate the collectability of our accounts receivable based on several factors. In circumstances where we are aware of a specific customer’s inability to
meet its financial obligations to us, we record a specific allowance for doubtful accounts against amounts due to us and reduce the net recorded receivable
to the amount we reasonably believe will be collected. We also consider recognizing allowances for doubtful accounts based on the length of time the
receivables are outstanding compared to contractual terms, industry and geographic concentrations, the current business environment, and our historical
experience. Accounts are written off after final collection efforts are exhausted. If the financial condition of our customers deteriorates or if economic
conditions worsen, increases in the allowance may be required in the future. We cannot predict future changes in the financial stability of our customers;
therefore, revisions to specific allowances may be required in the future.

Changes in the allowance for doubtful accounts are as follows (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2010 2009
Beginning balance $ 577 $ 527
Provision for doubtful accounts 67 326
Write-offs (139) (276)
Ending balance $ 505 $ 577

For the nine months ended September 30, 2010 certain customers returned equipment in lieu of payment of fully reserved receivables in the amount of
$158,000, reducing the required provision. Additionally, the Company re-established a previously written off receivable by increasing both accounts
receivable and allowance for doubtful accounts by $184,000. These amounts are netted in provision for doubtful accounts above.

Inventory Valuation

Our inventories are stated at the lower of average cost or estimated net realizable value. Amounts are typically removed from inventory using the first-in,
first-out method. Adjustments to reduce our inventories to estimated realizable value, including write downs for excess and obsolete inventories, are
determined by comparing inventory levels of individual materials and parts to current demand forecasts and historical usage for those items. In addition, we
review other individual facts and circumstances to determine necessary adjustments to reduce our inventories to estimated realizable value. Actual amounts
realized upon the sale of inventories may differ from estimates used to determine inventory valuations due to changes in customer demand, technology, and
other factors.



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Our property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation and amortization. We calculate depreciation using the straight-line method
over the estimated useful lives of the assets, which generally range from three to seven years. We amortize leasehold improvements using the straight-line
method over the lesser of their estimated useful lives or remaining lease terms. Depreciation and amortization expense for the nine months ended
September 30, 2010 and 2009 was $853,156 and $869,855, respectively.

Revenue Recognition

We derive our revenue primarily from sales of cellular-based modules and integrated products and, to a lesser extent, from product license fees, design
services, software licensing agreements and post contract support (PCS).

Revenues from sales of modules and integrated products are recognized when all of the following conditions are met: a) persuasive evidence of an
arrangement exists; b) the price is fixed or determinable; c) the service is performed (delivery); and d) collectability of the resulting receivable is
reasonably assured. Depending on the nature of the customer and the related sale terms, revenue is either recognized upon shipment or upon customer
payment. Inventories shipped for which the Company has not yet recognized revenue was $77,584 and $193,047 at September 30, 2010 and December 31,
2009 respectively and such amounts are included in finished goods inventories.

Revenue from the sales of modules and integrated platforms accounted for approximately 95% and 92% of total revenues for the nine months ended
September 2010 and 2009, respectively.

Certain customers use our intellectual property, as a component of their own product. We receive revenue from the licensing of the right to manufacture
certain products. Our royalties from these licenses scale from higher rates at product launch to lower rates as total production milestones are met. These
customers self-report their sales to Enfora, after which the Company invoices the customer. Royalty revenue is recognized when earned according to the
terms of the agreements and when realization of collectability is considered reasonably assured. Where royalties are based upon licensee sales, revenue is
recognized upon analysis of sales results of licensees.

We provide engineering design and test services for our customers to enhance their usage of our products. Design service revenue is recognized as services
are performed over the term of the design services contract.

In most cases, embedded software in our hardware products is incidental to the product value. Beginning in 2009 we introduced a new product offering
where software is essential to the functionality of the hardware and includes post contract support. These types of arrangements represent a multiple
deliverable revenue arrangement.



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Effective January 1, 2009, the Company early adopted ASU 2009-13 and ASU 2009-14. These standards modified the revenue recognition guidance for
arrangements that involve the delivery of multiple elements and software revenue recognition. Retrospective application of these standards was not
applicable since the Company’s related revenue activity began in 2009.

Taxes Collected

We present revenue net of sales taxes and any similar assessments.

Shipping and Handling

Shipping and handling costs related to product shipments to customers are included in cost of goods sold.

Advertising

We expense the costs of advertising as it is incurred. Advertising expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 were $350,983 and
$306,078 respectively.

Product Warranty

We generally provide a minimum of a one-year warranty on all products sold in the United States. Warranties provided in most other countries carry a two-
year warranty if mandated by the specific country where the sales occur. Warranties may exceed two years based on agreed-upon contract terms. We record
specific warranty provisions for any identified individual product issues.

Changes in the warranty accrual are as follows (in thousands):

September 30, December 31,
2010 2009
Beginning balance $ 440 $ 1,086
Warranty provisions (76) 99
Warranty claims (86) (745)
Ending balance $ 278 $ 440

Included in Warranty provisions, is a reduction of approximately $126,000 due to a combination of decreases in historical repair activity and other
estimates used to calculate the warranty reserve.



Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Royalty Expense

We have license agreements that commit us to pay royalties generally based on a percentage of the sales price of the products using certain technologies.
We recognize royalty obligations in accordance with terms of the respective royalty agreements. We also have accrued for royalty expenses in cases where
we do not have agreements, by using our current best estimate of its obligation. These estimates are based on various market data and other relevant
information. In September 2010 we revised our estimates and reduced royalty expense included in cost of sales by approximately $588,000 based upon our
history of current claims and new royalty agreements entered into during the year. When we enter into future agreements, or when additional information
becomes available, estimates will be revised accordingly. Royalty expenses for the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 were $1,277,422 and
$1,209,003, respectively, which are included in costs of goods sold.

Research and Development

Our research and development expenses consist primarily of personnel-related expenses, lab supplies, training, and prototype materials. We expense all of
our research and development costs in the period incurred.

Stock-Based Compensation
We have stock-based employee compensation plans. We account for all awards granted under those plans at fair value.
The following table summarizes the allocation of stock-based compensation expense (in thousands):

Nine months ended

September 30,

2010 2009
Cost of goods sold $ 17 $ 18
Sales and marketing 255 280
Research and development 311 321
General and administrative 403 382
Total stock-based compensation expense $986 $1,001
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)

NOTE 1 - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES - Continued

Risk Concentration

Financial instruments that potentially expose us to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of accounts receivable. At September 30, 2010 and
December 31, 2009 approximately 77% and 82%, respectively of our net accounts receivable were due from ten customers. For the nine months ended
September 2010, the three largest customers represented 13%, 12% and 11% of our revenues and the related accounts receivable from the same customers
was approximately, 13%, 20% and 4%. In the same period in 2009, the three largest customers represented 16%, 11% and 9% of our revenues, and the
related accounts receivable from the same customers was approximately 18%, 20% and 0%, respectively. We have customers in Asia, Africa, Europe,
South America and North America.

At September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009 approximately 78% and 84%, respectively of our net accounts receivable were due from customers in the
United States. We periodically evaluate our customers’ financial condition for creditworthiness and generally do not require collateral.

We depend on third-party contract manufacturers and subcontractors to manufacture all of our products. We do not have long-term supply agreements with
our manufacturers. We obtain products on a purchase order basis. The inability of a third-party manufacturer to continue manufacturing our products would
have a material adverse effect on our operations.

We provide component parts to two contract manufacturers in the form of raw materials that are used in the manufacturing process of our products.
Finished goods are then shipped directly from contract manufacturers to our customers or to our own facility. On occasion, our contract manufacturers are
also our customers. Amounts due from our contract manufacturers as customers for the purchase of raw materials are included in accounts receivable. At
September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, these amounts represented 3% and 4%, respectively, of the accounts receivable balance. No revenue is
recognized on raw material purchases by contract manufacturers for use in the manufacturing process of our products.

Foreign Currency Translation

Non-U.S. subsidiaries that operate in local currencies are translated to U.S. dollars at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, with the resulting
translation adjustments reported as part of Cumulative translation adjustment within the shareholders’ equity section of the Consolidated Balance Sheets.
Income and expense accounts are translated at average exchange rates during the year.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

(Unaudited)
NOTE 2 - INVENTORIES
Inventories consist of the following (table in thousands):
September 30, December 31,
2010 2009
Raw materials $ 595 $ 632
Work in process 1 —
Finished goods 5,466 6,390
Total inventory $ 6,062 $ 7,022

Inventory at customer sites for which we have not yet recognized revenue was $77,584 and $193,047 at September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009
respectively and is included in finished goods.

NOTE 3 - PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Property and equipment consists of the following (table in thousands):

Estimated September 30, December 31,
service life 2010 2009

Equipment 3t05 $ 2,173 $ 2,091
Software 3to5 2,263 2,193
Computer hardware 3to5 874 853
Furniture and fixtures 5to7 277 276
Leasehold improvements 7 111 111
Total property and equipment 5,698 5,524
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (4,304) (3,524)
Net property and equipment $ 1,394 $ 2,000

For the period ended September 2010 and December 2009 we retired fully depreciated assets or wrote off certain assets in amounts totaling $81,024 and
$1,039,230, respectively. The charge to expense for the nine months ended September 2010 and 2009 was $7,802 and $0, respectively.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED

(Unaudited)
NOTE 4 - DEBT
Our outstanding debt obligations are as follows (in thousands):
September 30, December 31,
2010 2009
Silicon Valley Bank Line of Credit $ 5,839 $ 5,189
Escalate Capital Note 10,473 11,532
Total debt 16,312 16,721
Less:
Unamortized debt discount (853) (1,362)
Current maturities of long-term debt (9,213) (6,017)
Long-term debt $ 6,246 $ 9,342

For the nine months ended September 30, 2010, Interest expense — non cash was comprised of amortization of debt discount in the amount of $709,000.
For the nine months ended September 30, 2009, Interest expense — non-cash was comprised of: (i) amortized debt discount and interest expense for the
Convertible Subordinated notes of $4,479,000 and $625,000 respectively, and (ii) amortization of other debt discount in the amount of $407,000.

As part of the merger with Novatel (see Note 9) all outstanding debt of the Company at November 30, 2010, was paid off.

NOTE 5 - INCOME TAXES

The Company adopted ASC Topic 740 in the first quarter of 2009. The adoption of this standard did not have a material impact on the Company’s
consolidated financial statements. No liabilities or assets have been recognized as a result of the implementation of ASC Topic 740. Accordingly, the
Company has not recognized any penalty, interest or tax impact related to uncertain tax positions. If any penalties and interest are recognized in the future,
they will be recorded in income tax expense. The Company’s federal income tax returns for the year ended December 31, 2006 and subsequent years
remain subject to examination. The Company’s Texas franchise and margin tax returns remain subject to examination for the 2007 report year and
subsequent report years.

We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilities for the expected future tax consequences of transactions and events. Under this method, deferred tax assets
and liabilities are determined based on the difference between the financial statement and tax bases of assets and liabilities using enacted tax rates in effect
for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. If necessary, deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance to an amount that is
determined to be more likely than not recoverable. We must make significant estimates and assumptions about future taxable income and future tax
consequences when determining the amount of the valuation allowance. Our deferred tax assets were fully reserved at September 30, 2010 and

December 31, 2009.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)

NOTE 5 - INCOME TAXES - Continued

The Company is subject to the margin tax imposed by the State of Texas. The margin tax in general is based on gross revenue generated during the year
less a limited number of eligible deductions. In accordance with accounting literature, the margin tax is treated as an income tax for financial reporting
purposes.

Income tax expense for the nine month period ending September 30, 2010, was primarily comprised of margin tax and income taxes related to the
Company’s foreign subsidiaries. Income tax expense for the same period in 2009 was primarily comprised of margin tax.

NOTE 6 - EMPLOYMENT BENEFIT PLAN

We have a 401(k) benefit plan (the “401(k) Plan”) covering substantially all eligible employees. The Company matched 3% of eligible employee
contributions through the beginning of May 2009 at which point the Company ceased matching contributions. We may make discretionary contributions to
the 401(k) Plan, as determined by our Board. We have not made any discretionary contributions to the 401(k) plan. Employer contributions for the nine
months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 were approximately $0 and $113,000, respectively.

NOTE 7 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

We have long-term operating lease agreements related to office space. For the nine months ended September 30, 2010 and 2009 rent expense under
operating leases was $339,286.

We have license agreements in place that commit us to pay royalties generally based on a percentage of the sales price of products using certain
technologies. We also accrued our best estimate for royalty costs in cases where we do not have agreements (See Note 1). We cannot be certain that our
products, services or technology do not or in the future will not infringe on valid intellectual property rights held by third parties. In addition, we cannot
assure you that third parties will not claim that we have infringed their intellectual property rights. In the future, we may be a party to litigation as a result
of an alleged infringement of others’ intellectual property. Successful infringement claims against us could result in substantial monetary liability, require
us to enter into royalty or licensing arrangements, or otherwise materially disrupt the conduct of our business. In addition, even if we prevail on these
claims, any related litigation could be time-consuming and expensive to defend or settle, and could result in the diversion of our time and attention and of
operational resources, which could materially and adversely affect our business. Any potential intellectual property litigation also could force us to do one
or more of the following:

. stop selling, incorporating or using our products and services that use the infringed intellectual property;

. seek from the owner of the infringed intellectual property right a license to sell or use the relevant technology, which license may not be
available on commercially reasonable terms, or at all; or

. redesign the products and services that use the technology.
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Enfora, Inc. and Subsidiaries

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS - CONTINUED
(Unaudited)

NOTE 7 - COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Continued)

From time to time we may become involved in legal proceedings with third parties arising in the ordinary course of business. Such actions may subject the
Company to significant liability and could be time consuming and expensive to resolve. The Company is not currently a party to, nor is aware of any such
litigation or other legal proceedings that could materially impact our financial position, statements of operations or liquidity.

NOTE 8 - RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to a 2006 agreement, we provide consulting, engineering, and administrative services to Modeci, Inc., an entity solely owned by Enfora’s majority
stockholder.

The amounts paid by Modeci to the Company for those transitional services in the period September 30, 2010 and 2009 was approximately $33,000 and
$26,000, respectively. In addition, Modeci may purchase Enfora products. For the nine months ending September 30, 2010 and 2009 we had sales to
Modeci of approximately $45,000 and $179,000, respectively. Total accounts receivable, including transitional services from Modeci as of September 30,
2010 and December 31, 2009 were $3,567 and $3,357, respectively. We make purchases from Modeci. For the periods ended September 30, 2010 and
2009, we purchased approximately $12,600 and $0, respectively. At September 30, 2010 and December 31, 2009, we did not have an accounts payable
balance due to Modeci.

NOTE 9 - SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On November 5, 2010, the Company entered into an Agreement and Plan of Merger with Novatel Wireless, Inc. (Novatel). On November 30, 2010, the
transaction was completed and Enfora became a wholly owned subsidiary of Novatel.

We have evaluated subsequent events through December 17, 2010, the date these financial statements were available to be issued. With the exception of
those matters discussed above, there are no other subsequent events that require disclosure.
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Exhibit 99.2
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA FINANCIAL INFORMATION

On November 30, 2010, Novatel Wireless, Inc. (“Novatel”) completed the acquisition of Enfora, Inc. (“Enfora”), for approximately $77.5 million in cash,
funded with Novatel’s existing cash resources, and potential future cash consideration of up to $6.0 million based on future earnings of Enfora. The cash
consideration paid at closing of the acquisition was based on a purchase price of $64.5 million and an additional payment of $13.0 million for an agreed upon
amount of Enfora working capital. The Enfora acquisition will be accounted for under the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with the Financial
Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Accounting Standard Codification or ASC 805-10 topic for “Business Combinations”. The purchase price in excess of the
amounts assigned to tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwill.

Management has estimated the fair value of tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on preliminary estimates and assumptions.
These preliminary estimates and assumptions could change significantly during the purchase price measurement period as we finalize the valuations of the
tangible and intangible assets. Any change could result in material variances between our future financial results and the amounts presented in these unaudited
combined financial statements, including variances in fair values recorded, as well as expenses associated with these items.

The unaudited pro forma financial information is based on historical financial statements. The unaudited pro forma combined condensed balance sheet as
of September 30, 2010 gives effect to the Enfora acquisition as if it was completed on that date, and was derived from the historical unaudited consolidated
balance sheet of Enfora as of September 30, 2010, combined with Novatel’s historical unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2010.

The unaudited pro forma combined statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 and nine-months ended September 30, 2010 illustrates
the effect of the acquisition of Enfora had it occurred on January 1, 2009, and were derived from the historical audited consolidated statement of operations for
Enfora for the year ended December 31, 2009 and unaudited historical consolidated statement of operations for the nine-months ended September 30, 2010,
combined with Novatel’s historical audited consolidated statement of income for the year ended December 31, 2009 and unaudited consolidated statement of
operations for the nine-months ended September 30, 2010, respectively.

The pro forma combined financial statements should be read in conjunction with the historical audited consolidated financial statements and notes thereto
of Novatel contained in its 2009 Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on March 12, 2010, and Enfora’s
historical audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2009, and unaudited financial statements for the nine-months ended September 30, 2010,
which are included as Exhibit 99.1 to this Current Report on Form 8-K/A.

The unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial information is presented based on the assumptions and adjustments described in the accompanying
notes that we believe are reasonable. The unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements do not include any pro forma adjustments relating to
costs of integration that the combined company may incur or post-integration cost reductions that may be realized as such adjustments would be forward-looking.

The pro forma information is presented for illustrative purposes only and is not necessarily indicative of the operating results or financial position that
would have occurred if the acquisition had occurred as of the date or during the periods presented nor is it necessarily indicative of future operating results or
financial position.



NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.
UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED BALANCE SHEET
SEPTEMBER 30, 2010
(In thousands)

Historical Historical Pro Forma Pro Forma
Novatel Enfora Adjustments Combined
Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $116,117 $ 4,221 $ (77,499) (a) $ 42,839
Marketable securities 31,302 — — 31,302
Accounts receivable, net 32,419 9,659 240 (n) 42,318
Inventories 15,982 6,062 3,021 (b)(n) 25,065
Deferred tax assets, net 236 — — 236
Prepaid expenses and other 5,093 943 (746) (c) 5,290
Total current assets 201,149 20,885 (74,984) 147,050
Property and equipment, net 13,627 1,394 — 15,021
Marketable securities 35,554 — — 35,554
Intangible assets, net 1,006 — 39,660 (d) 40,666
Goodwill — — 20,371 (d) 20,371
Deferred tax assets, net 2,903 — 3,226 (g) 6,129
Other assets 186 140 — 326
Total assets $254,425 $22,419 $ (11,727) $265,117
Liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable $ 38,660 $ 2,640 $ — $ 41,300
Accrued expenses 19,937 4,624 (762) (n)(0) 23,799
Notes payable - current portion of term loan — 3,374 (3,374) (e) —
Line of credit — 5,839 (5,839) (e) —
Total current liabilities 58,597 16,477 (9,975) 65,099
Capital lease obligations, long-term 83 — — 83
Other long-term liabilities 12,101 873 91 (e)(f) 13,065
Notes payable — non-current portion — 6,246 (6,246) (e) —
Total liabilities 70,781 23,596 (16,130) 78,247
Total stockholders’ equity (deficit) 183,644 (1,177) 4,403 (g) 186,870
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity (deficit) $254,425 $22,419 $ (11,727) $265,117

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements
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NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2009
(In thousands, except per share data)

Historical Historical Pro Forma
Novatel Enfora Adjustments
Net revenues $337,422 $ 52,514 $ —
Costs of net revenues 249,764 35,340 8,752 (b)(h)(i)(m)
Gross profit 87,658 17,174 (8,752)
Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development 44,892 7,206 128(h)(m)
Sales and marketing 19,857 6,061 (288) (h)(m)
General and administrative 20,159 5,911 84(h)(m)
Depreciation and amortization — 1,160 (1,160) (h)
Amortization of acquired intangibles — — 2,380 (i)
Total operating costs and expenses 84,908 20,338 1,144
Operating income (loss) 2,750 (3,164) (9,896)
Other income (expense):
Interest income (expense), net 1,374 (7,982) 7,124 (e)(j)
Other income, net 315 135 —
Income (loss) before income taxes 4,439 (11,011) (2,772)
Income tax expense (benefit) 527 13 (4,673) (k)
Net income (loss) $ 3912 $(11,024) $ 1,901
Per share data:
Net income (loss) per share:
Basic $ 013
Diluted $ 0.13
Weighted average shares used in computation of basic and diluted net income (loss) per
share:
Basic 30,648
Diluted 31,224 (576) (1)

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements
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Pro Forma
Combined

$389,936
293,856

96,080

52,226
25,630
26,154

2,380
106,390
(10,310)

516
450
(9,344)
(4,133)

$ (5211)

$ (0.17)
$ (0.17)

30,648
30,648



UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS

Net revenues
Costs of net revenues
Gross profit
Operating costs and expenses:
Research and development
Sales and marketing
General and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of acquired intangibles
Total operating costs and expenses
Operating loss

Other income (expense):
Interest (expense) income, net
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes

Income tax expense (benefit)
Net loss

Per share data:
Net loss per share:
Basic

Diluted

NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.

FOR THE NINE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2010
(In thousands, except per share data)

Weighted average shares used in computation of basic and diluted net loss per share:

Basic
Diluted

See Notes to Unaudited Pro Forma Combined Condensed Financial Statements
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Historical Historical Pro Forma

Novatel Enfora Adjustments

$219,664 $46,455 $ —
175,113 29,650 2,232(h)(i)(m)
44,551 16,805 (2,232)
34,070 6,939 128(h)(m)
15,258 4,576 (194) (h)(m)
14,309 4,469 20(h)(m)
— 853 (853) (h)
— — 1,440(i)
63,637 16,837 541
(19,086) (32) (2,773)
(2,698) (2,188) 1,954(e)(j)
1,671 6 —
(20,113) (2,214) (819)
12,420 55 —

$(32,533)  $(2,269) $  (819)

$ (1.04)

$ (1.04)

31,414

31,414

Pro Forma
Combined

$266,119
206,995

59,124

41,137
19,640
18,798

1,440
81,015
(21,891)

(2,932)
1,677
(23,146)

12,475
$ (35,621)

$  (1.13)
$  (1.13)

31,414

31,414



NOVATEL WIRELESS, INC.
NOTES TO UNAUDITED PRO FORMA COMBINED CONDENSED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Basis of Presentation

On November 30, 2010, Novatel Wireless, Inc. (“Novatel”’) completed the acquisition of Enfora, Inc. (“Enfora”), a company incorporated in Delaware, for
approximately $77.5 million in cash, and potential future cash consideration of up to $6.0 million based on future earnings of Enfora. The cash consideration paid
at closing of the acquisition was based on a purchase price of $64.5 million and an additional payment of $13.0 million for an agreed upon amount of Enfora
working capital. In connection with the acquisition, the holders of outstanding Enfora common stock, preferred stock, and vested stock options received total cash
of approximately $58.0 million, Enfora’s debt holders received approximately $16.2 million to pay outstanding debt facilities, and other Enfora acquisition related
liabilities of $3.3 million were settled. The acquisition was financed with Novatel’s existing cash resources.

The unaudited pro forma combined condensed financial statements of Novatel have been prepared using the acquisition method of accounting. The pro
forma adjustments are preliminary and based on management’s estimates of the fair value and useful lives of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed and have
been prepared to illustrate the estimated effect of the acquisition and certain other adjustments. The unaudited pro forma combined condensed balance sheet as of
September 30, 2010 gives effect to the acquisition of Enfora as if it was completed on that date, and was derived from the historical unaudited consolidated
balance sheet of Enfora as of September 30, 2010 combined with Novatel’s historical unaudited consolidated balance sheet as of September 30, 2010.

The unaudited pro forma combined condensed statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 and the nine months ended September 30,
2010 illustrate the effect of the acquisition of Enfora as if it had occurred on January 1, 2009, and were derived from the historical unaudited consolidated
statements of operations for Enfora for the twelve months ended December 31, 2009 and nine months ended September 30, 2010, combined with Novatel’s
historical audited consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2009 and unaudited consolidated statement of operations for the nine-
months ended September 30, 2010, respectively. The pro forma combined balance sheet and statements of operations were also adjusted to reflect certain
reclassifications to conform Enfora’s presentation to Novatel’s presentation.

2. Preliminary Purchase Price Allocation

The total purchase price of the acquisition was as follows (in thousands):

Cash paid for Enfora $77,499
Estimated fair value of contingent consideration 963
Total estimated purchase price $78,462

Certain Enfora employee stock options became fully vested and exercisable upon the closing of the acquisition. Payments with respect to such stock
options were made on a net basis based on the intrinsic value of the stock options using the per share price paid by Novatel for the Enfora common stock.

Under the acquisition method of accounting, the total purchase price as shown in the table above is allocated to the tangible and identifiable intangible
assets acquired and liabilities assumed based on their estimated fair values. The purchase price was allocated using the information currently available, and
Novatel may adjust the preliminary purchase price allocation after obtaining more information regarding, among other things, asset valuations, liabilities
assumed, and revisions of preliminary estimates.



The purchase price in excess of the fair value of the tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired less liabilities assumed is recognized as goodwill.
The preliminary allocation of the purchase price estimated at the November 30, 2010 acquisition date is as follows (in thousands):

Estimated fair value of net tangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,600
Accounts receivable 7,253
Inventories 11,029
Property and equipment 1,243
Prepaid expenses and other assets 658
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (7,690)
17,093
Estimated fair value of identifiable intangible assets acquired:
Technology 21,400
Trade name 12,900
Customer relationships 3,800
Non-compete agreements 960
Backlog 600
39,660
Goodwill 21,709
Total estimated purchase price $78,462

The purchase price allocation is preliminary and based on preliminary estimates and assumptions which could change significantly during the purchase
price measurement period as we finalize the valuations of the tangible and intangible assets.

3. Assumptions for Pro Forma Adjustments

The accompanying unaudited pro forma condensed combined financial statements have been prepared as if the acquisition was completed on
September 30, 2010 for balance sheet purposes and on January 1, 2009 for statements of operations purposes. The purchase price allocation values ascribed in the
pro forma financial statements have been modified as necessary to reflect differences in fair values at the respective pro forma periods. The estimated adjustments
to reflect the pro forma values are as follows:

(@) To record adjustments to cash as follows (in thousands):

Cash paid for common and preferred shares of Enfora $(58,024)
Cash paid to extinguish Enfora debt facilities (16,162)
Cash paid for acquisition related Enfora expenses (3,313)
Total $(77,499)

(b) To record inventory fair value adjustment, and the related expense to cost of net revenues.
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(d
(e)
®
(8)

()
(@

To eliminate unamortized debt issuance costs as a result of the acquisition.

To record goodwill and intangible assets acquired as a result of the acquisition.
To eliminate debt paid off at acquisition and related interest expense.

To record the $963,000 estimated fair value of contingent consideration.

Represents the following adjustments to stockholders’ equity (deficit) (in thousands):

Elimination of Enfora’s historical accumulated deficit
Additional deferred income tax benefit related to purchase accounting adjustments
Total

To reclassify depreciation expense that is included as other operating expense in Enfora’s financial statements.

To record the estimated amortization of acquired intangible assets as follows (dollars in thousands):

Costs of net revenues:
Technology
Technology

Backlog

Amortization of acquired intangibles:
Trade name

Customer relationships

Non-compete agreements
Non-compete agreements

Total

Estimated

Life (yrs)

10
5
5 mos.

10
10

$1,177
3,226
$4,403
Amortization
Purchase Amortization Nine Months
Amount Year Ended Ended
Allocated Dec. 31, 2009 Sep. 30, 2010
$14,800 $ 1,480 $ 1,110
6,600 1,320 990
600 600 —
12,900 1,290 968
3,800 380 285
500 250 187
460 460 —
$39,660 $ 5,780 $ 3,540




)

(k)
®
(m)

()
(0

To reduce interest income, net for the decrease in interest income determined by applying the average rate of return for the respective periods to the

assumed net decrease in Novatel’s cash balance of $77.5 million used to fund the acquisition of Enfora.
To record the income tax impact on the pro forma adjustments.
To adjust diluted weighted average shares as the impact would be anti-dilutive on a pro forma combined basis.

To record an adjustment for share-based compensation expenses as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended
December 31, 2009
Estimated share-based compensation for Novatel stock $ 290
Eliminate share-based compensation expense for Enfora stock (1,376)
Net pro forma adjustment $ (1,086)

To reclassify deferred revenue and related inventory costs to the liability section of the balance sheet.

To adjust contingent liabilities to estimated settlement values.

Nine Months
Ended

September 30, 2010
$ 218

(986)
$ (768)



